IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1949

Relationship of the nutrition of Streptococcus lactis to bacteriophage proliferation

Edwin Bruce Collins Iowa State College

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd



Part of the Agriculture Commons, Food Microbiology Commons, and the Microbiology

Commons

Recommended Citation

Collins, Edwin Bruce, "Relationship of the nutrition of Streptococcus lactis to bacteriophage proliferation" (1949). Retrospective Theses and Dissertations. 13153.

https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/13153

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.



RELATIONSHIP OF THE NUTRITION OF STREPTOCOCCUS LACTIS TO BACTERIOPHAGE PROLIFERATION

by

Edwin Bruce Collins

A Dissertation Submitted to the

Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of

The Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major Subject: Dairy Brotericlogy

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Wajor Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Head of Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Dean of Graduate College

Iowa State College 1949 UMI Number: DP12371

INFORMATION TO USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleed-through, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI Microform DP12371

Copyright 2005 by ProQuest Information and Learning Company.

All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

ProQuest Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
STATEMENT OF PROBLEM	2
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	3
EXPERIMENTAL METHODS	14
Basal Synthetic Medium	14
Designations and Sources of Bacteriophage-Organism Combinations	17
Propagation of Cultures and Preparation of Inocula	19
Propagation and Storage of Bacteriophage Filtrates	20
Determination of Numbers of Bacteriophage Particles	21
Determination of Bacterial Populations	23
EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS	24
Growth of the Lactic Group of Streptococci on Synthetic Media	24
Multiplication of Bacteriophages on Susceptible Host Cells in the Basal Medium	35
Effect of Omission of Nutrients upon the Multipli- cation of Bacteriophages and Organisms of Combina- tions 565-F54 and W2-F24	41
Effect of the Addition of Nutrients upon the Multiplication of Bacterioph ges and Organisms of Combinations Other Than 565-F54 and W2-F24	50
Inhibition of Lysis by Adding K2HPO4 to Litmus Wilk.	85

DISCUSSION	90
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	95
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	97
BIBLIOGRAPHY	98

INTRODUCTION

Bacteriophage problems pertaining to the dairy industry have been approached to date primarily by taking precautionary steps to prevent cultures from coming in contact with bacteriophages and by establishing practices which tend to reduce to a minimum the numbers of particles of bacteriophages that may gain entrance to dairy products and multiply therein. Such practices consist of the selection and rotation of cultures, special precautions for the preparation of mother and bulk starters, and the maintenance of strict sanitation of plant equipment and surroundings.

It is believed that a consideration of the more fundamental bacteriophage-organism relationships may result in
partial elucidation of some of the factors affecting multiplication of both bacteria and bacteriophages in milk. Therefore, a study of the effect of the nutrition of Streptococcus
lactis upon the proliferation of the homologous bacteriophages
was initiated.

STATEMENT OF PROBLEM

The purpose of the work reported herein was to study the relation of the nutrition of Streptococcus lactis to bacteriophage proliferation.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Since Twort (1915) reported a transmissible lytic agent active against staphylococcus organisms isolated from calf vaccines, much evidence has accumulated to show that bacterio-phages active against a wide variety of bacteria can be demonstrated. A tremendous amount of work has been done in an effort to elucidate the mechanism of bacteriophage action, and many excellent reviews are available which summarize known data and theorize on the debatable aspects. Some of the more recent reviews are those of Delbrück (1946), Anderson (1946), price (1948a), and Cohen (1949).

Several investigators (Burnett, 1929; Krueger and Northrup, 1930; Clifton and Morrow, 1936; and Hunter, 1943) have shown that the proliferation of bacteriophages is conditioned by bacterial reproduction and that whenever physical or physicochemical conditions are altered in such a way as to interfere with cell division, bacteriophage production is reduced. In predominantly the more recent studies it has been shown that bacteriophage reproduction, although related very closely to bacterial reproduction, may be influenced separately under certain nutritional conditions. For purposes of review, the effect of electrolytes upon bacteriophages will first be taken up, followed by the effect of various other growth factors.

Scribner and Krueger (1937) and Krueger and Strietmann

(1938) noted the effects of sodium chloride and sodium sulfate, respectively, while growing a Staphylococcus aureus strain Sak-bacteriophage combination in nutrient broth and determining multiplication of the bacteriophage by time of lysis under controlled conditions. Scribner and Krueger found that the presence of M/4 sodium chloride in the medium gave a slightly increased total bacteriophage production, while Krueger and Strietmann obtained the same result upon the addition of M/8 sodium sulfate. In neither case was the growth of the susceptible host detectably affected, and the augmented end titers of the bacteriophage were attributed to increased lytic thresholds, i.e., increased ratios of bacteriophage to bacteris requisite for lysis. They reasoned that because of increased organism resistance, production of bacteriophage continued longer, accounting for the eventual increases in bacteriophage yields. Later Fong and Krueger (1949), using Staph. aureus bacteriophage strain K and two methods, lysis time and plaque counts, for the enumeration of bacteriophage in a tryptose phosphate broth, found that a mixture of bacteriophage and organism maintained at 42° C. failed to show an increase in becteriophage and actually registered a considerable loss. However, the inclusion of M sodium chloride in the medium prevented the loss by preventing adsorption of bacteriophage by bacterial cells, as was shown by an adsorption study at 36° C. It seems that these findings might help to further explain the results of Scribner and Krueger (1937) and Krueger

and Strietmann (1938). The increased bacteriophage yields found by these workers could have been a result of decreased adsorption rates due to the high concentrations of sodium ions, which would have allowed greater concentrations of cells to develop prior to mass lysis and hence greater total bacteriophage yields.

Gest (1943) found that plaques formed by a strein of bacteriophage active against Escherichia coli became increasingly turbid with rising concentration of monovelent cationic salts. Plaque turbidity was barely noticeable at 0.009M, and plaques were barely distinguishable at 0.36M. With rising concentration of divalent cationic salts, plaque counts remained normal until a critical concentration was reached, about 0.005M, above which an increase in salt concentration by a factor of two prevented the appearance of any visible plaques. Gest attributed these effects to an increased development of resistant organisms which, in the presence of high salt concentrations, masked the effect of lysis.

Krueger and West (1935) found that minute concentrations of manganous ions, when added to beef infusion broth, accelerated lysis of a strain of Staph. aureus by bacteriophage without detectably affecting organism growth. Determining numbers of bacteriophage particles by the time required for lysis under controlled conditions, they reasoned that lysis was accelerated by a depression of the lytic threshold, which accounted for a corresponding decrease in the total quantity

of becteriophage produced. Spizizen (1943b) determined plaque counts upon cells of <u>F. coli</u> which had been infected with bacteriophage in nutrient broth, sedimented, and transferred to low concentrations of glycine anhydride containing various test substances. He found that the addition of ferrous, ferric, manganous, and magnesium ions stimulated bacteriophage production. Since Spizizen (1943a) had found that infected cells suspended in glycine anhydride did not multiply, cell multiplication was not determined in these experiments.

It was noticed by Stassano and de Beaufort (1925) that sodium citrate inhibited the multiplication of some strains of bacteriophages active against species of Shigella and that this action could be counteracted by using calcium chloride. Bordet and Renaux (1928), also using species of Shigella, confirmed the work of Stassano and de Beaufort, finding that sodium oxalate had the same effect, and considered that the effect was due to the removal of calcium ions which were necessary for the multiplication of the bacteriophages. This finding was extended by Andrews and Elford (1932) to include a strain of E. coli. They found that nutrient ager containing 0.75 to 1 per cent sodium citrate gave almost normal growth of E. coli. but in the presence of sodium citrate the homologous bacteriophage did not form plaques. When an excess of bacteriophage was added to citrate agar plates containing susceptible organisms, no colonies or plaques appeared, which indicated that while the presence of citrate prevented bacteriophage

multiplication it did not prevent becteriophage adsorption and the consequent inactivation of bacterial cells. Andrews and Elford did not try to counteract the inhibition caused by citrate.

Wahl (1946), working with four organism-bacteriophage combinations and a synthetic medium, demonstrated with plaque counts that bacteriophages C36, active against a strain of E. coli, and S13, active against a species of Shigella, required calcium for multiplication. An adsorption study disclosed that bacteriophage C36 was adsorbed by either dead or living cells in the absence of calcium. Although pla ue counts indicated bacteriophage multiplication when calcium was added to the synthetic medium, no lysis or clearing was evident, and no plaques were formed on a solid medium which contained the synthetic medium, calcium, and gelatin. The addition of thismin to this calcium-containing medium caused lysis by C36 with what seemed to be no difference in final bacteriophage concentration, but thismin seemed insufficient to cause lysis by Sl3. While typing staphylococci with bacteriophages, Smith (1943) encountered three batches of nutrient agar that were inhibitory to bacteriophage action. After discarding one batch of the media. he added 0.01% calcium chloride to the other two batches and found that this addition made the media completely satisfactory for the demonstration of bacteriophage activity. Following Anderson's work with L-tryptophan as an adsorption cofactor (1945 and 1948), Delbrück, upon comparing placue

adsorption study, reported finding three clearly distinct mutants of bacteriophage strain T4, active against E. colistrain B; these were (1) a type requiring no cofactor; (2) a type requiring tryptophan or similar substances and (3) a type requiring tryptophan or similar substances and in addition requiring calcium ions. The activity of calcium as an adsorption cofactor in the synthetic medium could not be replaced by sodium, potassium and magnesium ions.

Quantitative studies between the relationships of bacteriophages and bacteria have depended usually upon either the serial dilution method or the plaque count for the enumeration of particles of bacteriophages. Each of these methods has definite limitations, and neither is completely satisfactory for analysis of a system in which concentrations are changing rapidly. Methods for the determination of organism growth, usually plate counts or turbidity measurements, also have definite limitations. Thus one should proceed with caution when drawing conclusions from results which in at lesst some cases border on experimental variations and which were completed by different investigators under different experimental conditions. However, it seems obvious that changes in the inorganic constituents of media do affect the multiplication and/or adsorption of bacteriophages in some cases to a greater degree than such changes affect the multiplication of susceptible host cells. Especially is this true of calcium which seems to play a very important role in either the adsorption or the multiplication of several bacteriophages. It appears that various strains of bacteriophages differ cuite markedly in their response to various changes in the inorganic constituents of media. At the present these differences appear to be related primarily to differences in bacteriophages rather than to differences in host cells.

Several studies have shown that other growth factors may play important roles in the adsorption and/or multiplication of bacteriophages. While attempting to use a synthetic medium for the assay of the T bacteriophages, active against E. coli strain B, Anderson (1945) noticed that T4 and T6 gave fewer plaques on the synthetic medium than upon nutrient agar. The numbers of plaques formed on the synthetic medium by T4 and T6 were brought almost to normal upon the addition of minute amounts of L-tryptophan. Further experiments revealed that L-tryptophan, acting as a cofactor, enhanced the activities of these two bacteriophages by incressing their rates of adsorption on the host cells. Later Anderson (1948) found that at 15° C., E. coli grown on synthetic medium, was resistant to some of the stocks and picked clones of bacteriophage T4 which were active at 37° C., while there were no differences in the numbers of plaques formed on nutrient agar plates incubated at the two temperatures. Since in all cases the efficiency of plaque formation by bacteriophage T4 on

the synthetic medium at 15° C. was brought to unity by the addition of 20 7/ml. of L-tryptophan. Anderson suggested that the metabolism of the bacteria in minimal medium furnished sufficient cofactor for the activation and adsorption of those strains of T4 which were efficient in producing plaques on the synthetic medium at 37° C., but that these amounts of cofactor in many cases were not sufficient at 15° C. A survey of the other bacteriophages of the T group disclosed similar decreases in the numbers of plaques formed at 15° C. by Tl and T7. Preliminary tests indicated increases in the numbers of plaques formed upon the addition of isoleucine, methionine, or norleucine to the synthetic medium for Tl and isoleucine. leucine, methionine, or norleucine to the synthetic medium for T7. As already has been mentioned. Delbrück (1948) found that mutant types of T4 required cofactor or cofactors, while others did not.

price (1947) reported that miscin, when added to a dilute nutrient broth medium containing 2.5 x 10⁸ Staphylococcus muscae cells per ml. and homologous bacteriophage, caused an increase in bacteriophage as determined by placue counts without an increase in bacteria as shown by turbidity readings. Several other nutrients tested were without effect on bacteriophage formation in this system. Price also reported that Fildes' synthetic medium did not support bacteriophage proliferation unless broth or yeast extract were added. A solution containing 19 different growth factors and a strepogenin

concentrate could not replace broth or yeast extract. Using complete lysis as an index of bacteriophage multiplication, price (1948b) reported that acid digests of vitamin-free casein, when added to Fildes' synthetic medium, promoted bacteriophage proliferation. A total of 21 different amino acids failed to replace the casein digest; however, the active substance did not appear to be a peptide since it was stable to very strong acid and alkali. Later Price (1949), using one-step-growth experiments, found that a non-dialyzable fraction from baker's yeast increased the yield of Staph.

muscae bacteriophage from cells growing in the logarithmic phase of multiplication in synthetic medium. Turbidity measurements indicated that there was no effect on organism growth.

Ellis and Spizizen (1940), upon infecting E. coli cells in nutrient broth, sedimenting, resuspending in distilled water, and adding the infected cells to solutions containing various nutrients, found that a solution of glycine supported an increase in bacteriophage, as determined by plaque counts. Spizizen (1943) added infected E. coli cells, prepared by the method of Ellis and Spizizen (1940), to various test substances suspended in phosphate buffer at pH 6.9. He found that low concentrations of glycine, glycine amhydride, and hippuric acid supported bacteriophage multiplication without bacterial growth, as determined by plate counts.

Fowler and Cohen (1948) infected E. coli strain B cells ith bacteriophage T2 and determined the effect of adding various nutrients to a synthetic medium upon latent period and burst size. They obtained stimulation, reflected in diminished latent period or increased burst size, or both, with L-arginine, L-aspartic acid, L-isoleucine, L-lysine, L-phenylelenine, L-proline and L-glutemic acid, the last producing the greatest effect. L-histidine, L-tyrosine and L-valime gave variable results, while L-cystine, L-leucine and L-serime were inhibitory to bacteriophage in the synthetic medium. Cohen and Powler (1948), used the same procedures, except that various nutrients were omitted from a chemically defined medium of approximately the bacteriophage growth-promoting properties of nutrient broth (Fowler and Cohen, 1948) and the course of desoxyribosenucleic acid synthesis was followed. They found that L-histidine, L-isoleucine, L-leucine, L-methionine, L-phenylalanine, L-tryptophan, L-tyrosine, L-valine, L-glutamic acid and adenine should be present in the medium for maximal production of bacteriophage. Fowler and Cohen (1948) and Cohen and Fowler (1948), following the evidence of Cohen and Anderson (1946) that E. coli cells do not multiply after infection and assuming that diluting cultures 1:10,000 after a five minute adsorption period prevented adsorption during the experiment, did not assay to determine the effect of addition or of omission of nutrients upon bacterial multiplication.

These investigations indicate that the growth factor requirements of bacteriophages for multiplication and/or adsorption are many and that they are quite difficult to separate from the requirements of the host bacteria.

EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

Basal Synthetic Medium

It is highly desirable in this type of study to use a chemically-defined medium on which host cells and bacteriophages will proliferate. Niven (1944) reported a synthetic medium upon which all 21 of the strains of S. lactis which he used could be transferred serially and invariably develop turbidity within 24 hours. This synthetic medium autoclaved 11 minutes at 15 1b. pressure and with minor alterations was used in this work as a basal medium from which nutrients were omitted or to which nutrients were added. While Niven used 1 mg. of each amino acids per 10 ml. of medium (Niven and Sherman, 1944), in the present work where amino acid with L configuration were used only 0.5 mg. of an amino acid was included per 10 ml. of medium. Since Gest (1943) reported that high concentrations of monovalent cations promoted secondary growth, the NaCl was left out, leaving present in the medium only the MaCl formed during neutralization of the medium. This change was made after some preliminary studies upon organism growth showed no demonstrable effect was produced by this modification. All other modifications of the basal medium are reported in the appropriate section of this thesis.

In table 1 are listed the various complex supplements used in determining the growth requirements of those strains of the lactic group which were found not to grow on the medium of Niven. All of the complex supplements used in attempts to secure multiplication of bacteriophages other than F54 and F24 also are included.

Bacteriophage multiplication was checked at different initial pH values between pH 6.0 and pH 7.0 for combinations 565-F54 and W2-F24. Bacteriophage F54 was found to reach a slightly higher concentration when the initial pH of the synthetic medium was 6.7, while an initial pH value of 6.4 was found to give a slightly higher final concentration of bacteriophage F24. Subsequently, all media used for bacteriophage studies with combination W2-F24 were adjusted to pH 6.4. All other media used in these investigations were adjusted to pH 6.7. A Leeds and Northrup glass electrode system was used for the adjustment of the pH of all media.

Stock solutions for making the synthetic medium were kept in a refrigerator at 3 to 5° C., in brown bottles, and under a thin layer of toluene.

TABLE 1

List of Supplements

Section of the sectio	Nutrients (/100 ml. medium)
1-4	
	Sodium acetate, 0.2 g.; Twen 800, 0.2 g.; reticulosen. 20 microl.; paminobenzoic acid. 20 7:
}(}(folic seid, 1 %; thymine, 0.5 mg.; pyridoxamine, 0.1 mg.; pyridoxal, 0.1 mg.; nicotinamide, 0.1 mg.: inositol. 0.1 mg. and eysteine. 10 mg.
III	Supplement II minus reticulogen.
	Supplement II minus nicotinamide, inositol, cysteine and reticulogen.
1	Supplement II minus pyridoxamine, pyridoxal and reticulogen.
	Supplement II minus p-aminobenzoic scid, folic acid, thymine and reticulogen.
	Supplement II minus sodium acetate, Tween 80 and reticulogen.
MET XI	Supplement II minus sodium acetate and reticulogen.
××	IX with:
X	НОН, В mg.; FeSO4.7HOH, О.4 mg. аг
XIII XIV	A DEC
ΑΧ ,	MOI

A commercial liver extract.

polyoxyethylene derivative of sorbiten monooleste.

Designations and Sources of Bacteriophage-Organism Combinations

Bacteriophage-organism combinations used for this study were obtained from the collection maintained in the Dairy Bacteriology Laboratories at Iowa State College. In table 2 are presented the designations and sources of all combinations used.

combinations 565-F54, W2-F24 and 712-F56 were purified prior to use in this study. Purification of the S. lactis strains was accomplished by plating each strain on tryptone glucose extract milk agar (American Public Health Association, 1948) and making transfers from well isolated colonies to litmus milk. After incubating the purified cultures at 32° C. until coagulated, the cultures were again purified in the same manner.

purification of the bacteriophage strains was accomplished by pouring plaque plates, using the method of Turner (1948), and transferring bacteriophages from isolated plaques to litmus milk. After inoculating with susceptible organisms and allowing the cultures to incubate overnight, whey filtrates were prepared using 1 per cent of this mixture as bacteriophage inoculum. Only purified <u>S. lactis</u> strains were used in purifying bacteriophages to increase the probability of having homologous strains of bacteriophages after purification.

The other bacteriophage-organism combinations used in

TABLE 2

Designations and sources of bacteriophage-organism combinations

Bacterlophage	S. lactis	
designation	designation	Source of combination
F54	565	United Dairies, London, England.
F24	MS	Iowa State College.
F56	712	United Dairies, London, England.
F65	PH8	Dairy Research Institute, Palmer- ston North, N. Z.
F74	318B/27	National Institute for Research in Dairying, Univ. of Reading, England.
F25	Ml	Iowa State College.
F63	E8	Dairy Research Institute, Palmer- ston North, N. Z.
F6 8	IP5	National Institute for Research in Dairying, Univ. of Reading, England.
F59	HÞ	Dairy Research Institute, Palmer- ston North, N. Z.
F52	459	United Dairies, London, England.
P21	W4	Iowa State College.
F76	122-1	Iowa State College.

this work were obtained from the laboratory stock collection without further purification.

Propagation of Cultures and Preparation of Inocula

S. lactis cultures 565, W2 and 712 were carried on litmus milk and in the basal synthetic medium. The other S. lactis cultures used for the investigations were carried in litmus milk and in the basal synthetic medium supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80. All cultures were subcultured daily during actual use and every third day when not being used. After 14 to 16 hr. incubation, cultures were kept in a mechanical refrigerator maintained at 3 to 5°C. Prior to use cultures always were transferred daily for two or three successive transfers in order to have the organisms in a physiologically active state. Since cultures carried in synthetic medium soon lost their ability to coagulate milk rapidly, cultures carried in synthetic medium were used only for the inoculation of test media, and litmus milk cultures were used in all cases for the assay of bacteriophages.

Inocula were prepared by sedimenting twice by centrifugation cultures grown 12 hr. in synthetic medium, resuspending each time in 0.9 per cent NaCl and adjusting the washed cells with 0.9 per cent NaCl to a turbidity reading of 40 with a Klett-Summerson photoelectric colorimeter using filter number 54. It was found, using cultures 565, W2 and 712, that

inoculum prepared in this manner contained approximately 10⁸ bacteria per ml. One per cent inoculum was used for all test media.

Propagation and Storage of Bacteriophage Filtrates

and F24, bacteriophages active against S. lactis strains 565 and W2, respectively, were carried in whey filtrates. Bacteriophages F54 and F24, the only two strains which were found to multiply in the basal medium, were carried in basal synthetic medium filtrates.

To prepare filtrates, 1 per cent litmus milk culture or 1 per cent synthetic medium culture was added to 100 ml. sterile skim milk or 100 ml. sterile synthetic medium, as the case might be, along with 1 per cent bacteriophage filtrate, diluted to contain approximately 105 bacteriophage particles, and incubated in a water bath at 32° C. for 6 or 7 hr. The skim milk cultures were coagulated by adding 3.6 ml. of sterile 10 per cent lactic acid, filtered through coarse filter paper to remove the coagulated proteins, and finally filtered through a sterile Selas microporous porcelain filter (porosity #03) to remove bacterial cells. Cultures in synthetic medium were adjusted colorimetrically to approximately pH 6.7 for S. lactis strain

565 and immediately filtered through sterile Selas filters. By these procedures, filtrates containing 10⁸ or 10⁹ bacteriophage particles per ml. generally were obtained.

When a culture in synthetic medium was not neutralized prior to filtration, the resulting filtrate usually had a very low bacteriophage concentration. This was especially true when the majority of the bacterial cells had not been lysed and the culture was turbid. A pH of 6.5 or 6.6 seemed to be sufficient neutralization for filtrates from W2-F24, while neutralization to pH 6.8 or 6.9 seemed better for filtrates from 565-F54.

Bacteriophage filtrates were stored under refrigeration at 3-50 C. until needed for use.

For inoculum, a filtrate was diluted with distilled water to contain approximately 10⁵ bacteriophage particles per ml., and 1 per cent of the diluted filtrate was used for all test media. Fresh dilutions were made each day of testing.

Determination of Numbers of Bacteriophage Particles

particles was made by the limiting dilution technique used by Harriman (1934) and by Nelson (1936). This method was chosen because plaques formed by most of the combinations used were extremely small and very difficult to count. Moreover,

Turner (1948) in comparing the plaque count method with the limiting dilution method found little or no significant difference between the two methods. Turner used undiluted S. lactis culture as inoculum when using the limiting dilution method. In preliminary trials for this work it was found that many questionably coagulated tubes were eliminated by diluting the S. lactis culture used as inoculum 1:8 in litmus milk.

The limiting dilution method as used in this study consisted of making successive 100-fold dilutions in sterile distilled water of a medium containing the unknown number of bacteriophage particles. One ml. and O.1 ml. quantities of each successive dilution were transferred in triplicate to tubes containing about 8 ml. of litmus milk. This gave the overall effect of successive 10-fold dilutions in litmus milk. All litmus milk tubes containing diluted sample and one control tube were inoculated with 1 drop of susceptible S. lactis culture, using a 1:8 dilution of the organism in litmus milk, and incubated 14 to 16 hr. at 32° C. Tubes of litmus milk then were compared to the coagulated control tube, and those in which normal coagulation had not taken place were considered to have contained at least one bacteriophage particle. "most probable number" of bacteriophage particles was determined using the probability table (Buchanan and Fulmer, 1928) for three tubes of each dilution.

Determination of Bacterial Populations

Plate counts of bacteria were made using tryptone glucose extract milk agar (American Public Health Association, 1948) and incubating plates 48 hr. at 32° C.

A Klett-Summerson photoelectric colorimeter with filter number 54 was used for turbidity measurements which served as indices of bacterial populations. The colorimeter was adjusted to 0 using an uninoculated tube of medium.

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

Growth of the Lactic Group of Streptococci on Synthetic Media

Two quantities of media were prepared according to the formulae given by Niven (1944), one containing casein hydrolysate and the other containing amino acids. Forty cultures. most of which have been carried in litmus milk for some time in the stock collection of this laboratory and for which this laboratory has bacteriophage filtrates, were transferred to the two media using as inoculum one loop of litmus milk culture per 5 ml. tube. In the medium containing casein hydrolysate, after an incubation period of 24 hr. at 32° C.. fifteen cultures were quite turbid and eight cultures were slightly turbid. After 48 hr. these eight cultures and seven others in which growth was questionable at 24 hours were quite turbid. In the medium containing amino acids, five cultures were quite turbid at 24 hours., and three other cultures were slightly turbid at 48 hours; these last three cultures were lost upon subsequent transferring (incubation for as long as 72 hours did not result in growth of these cultures), leaving only five cultures, 712, 565, W2, W8 and H, which grew readily on the synthetic medium. Since there is considerable doubt that W8 and W2 are different strains of S. lactis, and since

the bacteriophage filtrate for H was found to be inactive, W8 and H were eliminated, leaving three strains of S. lactis which grew readily on the synthetic medium and with which a study of the bacteriophage-organism relationships could be made under rigidly defined conditions with respect to cell nutrition.

Upon finding that the omission of NaCl produced no demonstrable effect upon organism growth, only the NaCl of neutralization was included in the medium from this point on in these investigations.

Niven (1944) noted that if glutamine and asparagine were autoclaved for 15 minutes at 15 lb. pressure in the medium, erratic growth resulted. He avoided erratic growth by sterilizing glutamine and asparagine by filtration and adding them to the autoclaved medium after it was cool. To find out whether erratic growth could be avoided by a different procedure, six quantities of basal medium were prepared and subjected to the sterilization treatments indicated in table 3.

These media were dispensed aseptically into test tubes, 5 ml./tube, and inoculated with basal medium cultures of S.

lactis strains 565, W2 and 712. Ten tubes of a medium were used for each organism, and one drop of culture per tube was used as inoculum. Turbidity readings were made after 22 hours incubation at 32° C.

When glutamine and asparagine were autoclaved 11 minutes separately from the medium, most cultures of strain 565 did

TABLE 3

Effect of different sterilization treatments for glutamine and asparagine on the growth of S. lactis in the synthetic basal medium

565	11 13 15 11 3	Temp. (°C.) 121 121 121 21 8	84 79 71 4	79 80 76	86 67	87 77	87 84	87 87	<u>7</u> 88	<u>8</u>	9 88	10 87
565	13 15 11 3	121 121 8	79 71	80	67							87
	15 11 3	121	71			77	QA	TV A		A		
	15 11 3	121	71				C)***	74	83	68	65	78
	11 3		4		20	77	68	69	74	6	74	73
	3			O	1	0	O	4	10	1	0	0
		IJ	88	93	93	84	80	97	92	87	71	95
	0	c	105	91	107	108	102	105	104	102	**	
	11	121	94	90	91	90	8 8	87	91	87	92	92
·	13	121	87	83	83	84	84	84	86	88	93	90
W2	15	121	12	82	83	82	64	80	76	77	3 8	85
	11	a	115	118	120	120	123	118	119	120	118	114
	3	ď	117	116	121	118	122	122	118	118	115	113
	0	C	119	132	13 5	136	13 5	135	134	132		
	11	121	86	86	85	85	88	82	85	83	83	82
	13	121	79	78	78	75	72	72	77	77	78	82
712	15	121	82	81	81	78	79	82	82	81	80	79
** ***********************************	īi	8	100	101	101	103		***			***	***
	3	b	111	109			***	100 944	***	-	***	-
	0	e	127	127	128	126	126	124	126	126	125	dada retar

Glutamine and asparagine autoclaved separately from medium at 121° C.

b Glutamine and asparagine heated to about 90° C. in Arnold steamer.

c Glutamine and asparagine sterilized by filtration.

not initiate growth during 22 hours, while the turbidities developed by cultures of strains W2 and 712 were only slightly less than those developed when glutamine and asparagine were sterilized by filtration. Erratic growth was the result with two cultures of strain 565 and three cultures of strain W2 when glutamine and asparagine were autoclaved 15 minutes with the medium, while there was decreased growth with three cultures of 565 when the time of autoclaving glutamine and asparagine with the medium was decreased to 13 minutes. Erratic growth apparently may be avoided by autoclaving the medium containing glutamine and asparagine only 11 minutes; however, by so doing the growth of each of these three strains of S. lactis was slightly below that in the medium containing unheated glutamine and asparagine.

Other than for carrying stock cultures of 5.5, W2 and 712, glutamine and asparagine were sterilized by filtration for all media used in these investigations, unless stated otherwise in a particular section of this thesis.

After the synthetic basal medium was shown to be sufficient for multiplication of bacteriophages active against S. lactis strains 56% and W2 and insufficient for the bacteriophage active against S. lactis strain 712, it was desirable to know if other bacteriophages would multiply in the basal medium supplemented so as to allow growth of their respective host cells. Hence, a study was conducted to determine what nutrients when added to

the basal medium would permit growth of other strains of the lactic group of streptococci.

while little work has been conducted on the nutrition of S. lactis and S. cremoris, an extremely large amount of research has been conducted during the last decade on the nutrition of other organisms producing lactic acid. This work was reviewed by Snell (1946)(1948), Woods (1947) and Kozer (1948). Supplement II (table 1) containing several nutrients which have been shown necessary for various lactic acid organisms was made up and added to the basal medium in an effort to supply the necessary growth factors for several strains of S. lactis and S. cremoris. This supplement was composed of sodium acetate (Guirard, Snell, and Williams, 1946), 2 mg./ml.; Tween 80, a polyoxyethylene derivative of sorbitan monocleate, (Williams, Broquist, and Snell, 1947) 2 mg./ml.: reticulogen, a commercial liver extract. (Baumann and Sauberlick, 1948), 0.2 microl./ml.: p-amonibenzoic acid (Lampen and Jones. 1947). 0.2 V/ml.: folic acid (Mitchell. Snell, and Williams, 1941), 0.01 γ /ml.; thymine (Snell and Mitchell, 1941), 5 V/ml.; pyridoxamine (Snell, 1946), 17/ml.; pyridoxal (Snell, 1946), 1 /ml.; nicotinamide (Snell, 1946), $1 \gamma/\text{ml.}$; and inositol, $1 \gamma/\text{ml.}$ Although the latter was not required by any lactic acid organism used by Shankman, Camien, Block, Merrifield, and Dunn (1946), it was included in a medium used by Dunn, Shankman, Camien, and Block (1946). Cysteine, 0.1 mg./ml., also was included to increase the anaerobic conditions of the medium.

Results obtained by adding supplement II and various modifications of this supplement to the basal medium for 22 laboratory stock cultures, none of which grew at 40° C. or produced ammonia from L-arginine, are given in table 4. Results using 20 cultures just isolated for the study. 8 cultures isolated in December, 1945, and 3 stock cultures, all 31 of which grew at 40° C. and produced ammonia from L-arginine. are given in table 5. All cultures were transferred from litmus milk to basal medium to which supplement II had been added. After three serial transfers in the supplemented besal medium. cultures were transferred in duplicate to tubes of basal medium containing the indicated modifications of Supplement II. Turbidity resdings were made after 24 hours incubation at 32° C. on the second serial transfer in a medium in which turbidity developed during the first 24 hour incubation period. One drop of inoculum was used in all cases.

The important functions of sodium acetate and unsaturated fatty acids in the growth of various lactic acid bacteria have been reported by several workers. Guirard, Snell, and Williams (1946), finding that acetate could be replaced by several fatty acids, keto acids, and sterols for a few lactic acid bacteria, indicated that acetate might serve in the synthesis of cellular lipoidal materials. That the presence of high molecular weight unsaturated fatty acids eliminated the requirement of one strain of L. casei for biotin (Williams and Fieger, 1946 and 1949)

TABLE 4

Multiplication of strains of S. cremoris
basal medium supplementeds as
indicated on the synthetic

(av. of duplicate determinations)

1-22-1	HP 459 573	0 88 799/11 1P5 K2	MTT 10 H1-70 H7-8	#6 318B/27 497 144F	?;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;
00	H0000	00440	01000	00000	
201	90 778 84	00007 00044	107 45 745 745	78824	Antoroan,
139	105 105 107 75	1143 143 143 86	1386 74 94	ON 2-4 IN 60 IN 14-	
730	6 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	6736 6736	0.00 mg 10 m	107 125	rescings
26 03T	703 78 58	995589	35°05'8	125 140 134	1068
211	1050	105 1124 119 92	88 110 89	Auto De Director de la companya del la companya de	\$ T X
95	9 57 7 9 55 57 9 57 68	105 105 105 89	20008	119 128 128 138 138 138 138	Zª E
00	00000	00000	00040		Dr.
105	00000	00400	00 %0	00000	Adams 411
31	49 49 49	120 120 150 79	108 108 21	22005	dans
4 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	00000	33 10 143 23	88 1 776	\$ 0 k	Lement:
115	105 105 105 105	108 90 85 118 74	110 147 127 70	86 141 110 104 108	1:31

a See table 1

Multiplication of strains of S. lactis on the synthetic basal medium supplemented as indicated

(av. of duplicate determinations)

'urbidity	readings at	24	hr. with suppl	ement:
Culture		No	supplement	Supplement XI
1	Maria in the design and the second		60	internal in particular and consequent plants in the control of the
2			1	127
3			52	
3 4			132	**************************************
5			0	131
6			1	126
7			88	***
8			92	900 and 1400
9	•		81	***
10			108	AND 1889 APP
11			110	
12			100	
13			88	inga nasa masi-
14			0	136
15			0	103
16			120	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
17			94	nga nga wa
18			96	100 400 400
19			143	
50			110	-
1,1			80	95
2,1			125	155
3,1			113	183
4,1			0	150
1,8			0	1 55
4,8			32	123
,15			0	170
1,15			0	500
712			136	187
565			128	185
MS.			132	182

a See table 1

indicated that biotin functions as a coenzyme in this system (Williams, Broquist, and Snell, 1947). Guirard, Snell, and Williams (1946) found that while several saturated and unsaturated fatty acids could replace sodium acetate for L. arabinosus and while the unsaturated acids had some activity in replacing sodium acetate for L. acidophilus, none of the fatty acids used, including cleic acid, was active in replacing sodium acetate for the strain of L. casei used. Three lactobacillus organisms and one streptococcus organism were reported by Williams, Broquist, and Snell (1947) and one strain of L. arabinosus was reported by Whitehill, Oleson and SubbaRow (1947) for which the cleic acid or high molecular weight unsaturated fatty acid requirement could not be modified by using acetate, biotin and other growth factors.

In the nutrition of many strains of S. cremoris and S. lactis, as shown in tables 4 and 5, both acetate and oleic acid play important roles. All 22 strains of S. cremoris and 9 of 31 strains of S. lactis failed to become turbid on the basal medium within 24 hours until supplemented with either sodium acetate plus Tween 80 or reticulogen. Even when the besal medium was supplemented with the entire mixture of growth factors minus reticulogen, sodium acetate, and Tween 80 (supplement VII) all strains of S. cremoris failed to become turbid, which indicates that the requirement by these cultures for either reticulogen or sodium acetate and Tween 80 was not eliminated

by any nutrient or combination of nutrients used in the supplement. When sodium acetate and reticulogen were left out of the supplemented medium (supplement VIII) only one strain, 122-1, developed normally, while strains DL, 799/11, KH and \$4 developed turbidity at a rate somewhat less than on the more complex med-Upon including sodium acetate and leaving out Tween 80 (supplement IX) there was an increase in the number of cultures which developed turbidity. However, only cultures 318B/27. DL, 799/11, K2 and 122-1 developed turbidity somewhat normally. The stimulation caused by an increase in the sodium acetate content from 2 to 5 mg./ml (supplement X) was not as great as that caused by the addition of 2 mg./ml. of Tween 80 (supplement III). In the basal medium supplemented only with reticulogen (Supplement I), turbidities in general were slightly less than when the besal medium was supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80 (supplement XI). However, turbidities developed by strains 318B/27, 799/11, HP, 799 and W4 were about equal to those developed when sodium acetate and Tween 80 was the supplement, and strains H1-2 and 122-1 actually became more turbid when the supplement was reticulogen. Strain H1-2, an extremely slow culture even in milk, usually became turbid between 36 and 48 hours in the basal medium supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80. Cultures 318B/27, 497, ML1, 799/11, 799, W4 and 122-1 developed slightly higher turbidities with the

entire mixture of growth factors (supplement II) than with only sodium acetate and Tween 80 (supplement XI), while cultures M1, H1-10, KH and 573 developed slightly lower turbidities when the entire mixture of growth factors was added. Thus the adding of reticulogen and the several other growth factors provided little stimulation for most cultures growing in the basal medium supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80. Those cultures of S. lactis which did not require sodium acetate and Tween 80 were stimulated by the addition of these ingredients in every case checked (table 5).

Vitamin B_{12} was used in an effort to satisfy the growth requirement of 12 strains of <u>S. cremoris</u> for sodium acetate and Tween 80, but the addition of 0.0004 7/ml. did not cause any of the cultures to become visibly turbid within 24 hours.

Though the original classification and the time of isolation for most of the 22 cultures which were classified as S. cremoris is not available, it is interesting that all of these cultures have been carried in laboratories for, as far as is known, many years. The 20 cultures isolated for this study, 8 cultures which were isolated in December, 1947, and W2 which was isolated in 1945, all were classified as S. lactis, along with 712 and 565, both of which were obtained from United Dairies, London, England. Nichols and Hoyle (1948) found that of 277 strains isolated from commercial starters all were S. cremoris and that, of 72 wild strains suitable for use as starters and isolated from samples

of sour milk, 70 were S. lactis while 2 were doubtful S. cremoris.

Multiplication of Bacteriophages on Susceptible Host Cells in the Basal Medium

In order to give direction to the study, it was necessary to know whether or not bacteriophages would multiply on susceptible host cells while growing in the basal synthetic medium.

Results from such work would determine whether the investigation was to proceed by the omission or the addition of nutrients.

preliminary investigation showed that with combinations 565-F54 and W2-F24 the bacteriophages did multiply in the basal medium; however, with the other combinations used, the bacteriophages did not multiply.

After carrying bacteriophage strains F54 and F24 serially through four transfers on their respective host cells in the basal medium, making a new filtrate after each transfer, comparisons were made between the multiplication of these bacteriophages in sterile skim milk and in the basal synthetic medium. For these comparisons the basal medium and the sterile skim milk were made up in quantities of 100 ml. and stored in the refrigerator overnight. Glutamine and asparagine were autoclaved in the basal medium. After allowing time for the media to reach 32° C. in a water bath, at 0 hr. minus 25 minutes, they were inoculated with susceptible cells; and, at 0 hr. minus 5 minutes, the homologous bacteriophages were added. After allowing 5 min. for agitation

and adsorption, plate counts were made and the most probable numbers of bacteriophages were determined at 0 hour and as indicated. Tables 6 and 7 show these comparisons with combinations 565-F54 and W2-F24, respectively.

Tables 6 and 7 indicate that the development of bacteriophage caused mass lysis in milk, but not in synthetic medium. Actually only slight drops in the number of organisms occurred in the synthetic medium. That the large numbers of viable cells present at 10 hours in the synthetic medium did not result from the multiplication of resistant organisms seemed evident upon finding that these organisms did not form colonies when 1 ml. of bacteriophage filtrate containing 108 or 109 bacteriophage particles was added to each plate in making survival counts. Evidently other factors were involved which made the organisms temporarily resistant to bacteriophage action. Delbruck (1948) noted such a phenomenon with E. coli, which produced a substance, probably indole, from tryptophan which inhibited the adsorption of T4 bacteriophage to cells. Clearing did not always occur in the synthetic medium, even when the concentration of bacteriophage was as high as 108 bacteriophage particles per ml.

while bacteriophages active against S. lactis strains 565 and W2 multiply on the basal medium, the rate of multiplication is somewhat less rapid than in milk. While no comparisons were made between milk and the basal medium containing filtered

TABLE 6

Comparison of synthetic basal medium with milk as a growth medium for S. lactis (565) and bacterio-phage (F54)

Incuba-	Total Synthetic	plate count/ml basal medium			cteriophage cles/ml.
tion time (hr.)	Control bacteria	Bacteria with bacteriophage		Synthe- tic basal medium	Nilk
0	5.5x10 ⁵	1.1x10 ⁶	2.5x10 ⁶	2.5x10 ³	2.5x10 ³
1		max inte	1.0x10 ⁷	Marie state	2.5x104
8	4.7x10 ⁶	8.6x10 ⁶	1.7x107	9.5x10 ³	2.5x10 ⁵
3	***	salin ,uini	1.0x10 ⁵	nation states	2.0x10 ⁶
4	1.3x10 ⁷	2.5x10 ⁷	1.0x10 ¹	2.5x10 ⁵	4.5x10 ⁶
5	*** ***	***	1.0x10 ²	indigni salas	9.5x10 ⁶
6	6.0x10 ⁷	2.8x10 ⁷	1.1x10 ²	4.5x10 ⁶	4.5x10 ⁶
7	**		·	***	*** * **
8	1.2x108	2.9x10 ⁶	****	4.5x10 ⁶	***
9	***	ngia and	***	***	**************************************
10	1.8x10 ⁸	**	****	4.5x10 ⁶	egas Nille
11		Wife near	and the same	deritor values	white subage
12	8.5x10 ⁸	1.2x10 ⁶	MANUFA TORRES	4.5x10 ⁶	egale hour

Note:

Total plate count of bacteria growing in synthetic medium with bacteriophage at 10 hr. with 1 ml. filatrate added per plate was 0 colony on duplicate 10 plates.

TABLE 7

Comparison of synthetic basal medium with milk as a growth medium for S. lactis (W2) and bacteriophage (F24)

		tal plate count		No. of bac	teriophage
		: basel medium	M11k	parti	cles/ml.
tion		Bacteria with	Bacteria	Synthe-	
time	bacteria	bacteriophage	with bac-	tic	Milk
(hr.)			teriophage	basal	
***	and the state of t	والمراجع والم	ran i je rijekog dielog saktor valetski i dekom met von diene i gelagien, vins i elkara den	medium	historium del que en militare i proprieta de la disposa de la companya de la companya de la companya de la comp
0	2.5x10 ⁵	3.9x10 ⁵	9.2x10 ⁵	9.5x10 ¹	9.5x10 ¹
1	**************************************	ilita satu	4.5x10 ⁶	***	9.5x10 ²
2	5.1x10 ⁶	3.7x10 ⁶	1.1x10 ⁷	2.5x10 ³	1.5x104
3	***	***	3.0x10	•	2.5x10 ⁵
4	3.0x10 ⁷	2.5x10 ⁷	$4.7x10^{6}$	2.5x10 ⁵	2.5x10
5		***	5.0x10 ¹		2.5x10 ⁷
6	5.0x10 ⁷	3.1x10 ⁷	8.0x101	4.5x10 ⁶	2.0x10 ⁶
7	***	ation states	: : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	- (AND)	### ##P
8	1.3x10 ⁸	1.8x10 ⁶	with we	9.5x10 ⁶	***
9	***	dito serà	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	***	***
10	1.0x10 ⁸	5.9x10 ⁶	***	4.5x10 ⁷	
11	***	man milk	water states.	, **	***
12	· ·	2.0x10 ⁷	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	2.5x10 ⁷	***

Note:

Total plate count of bacteria growing in synthetic medium with bacteriophage at 10 hr. with 1 ml. fil5 trate added per plate was 0 colony on duplicate 10 plate.

glutamine and asparagine, a comparison between heated and unheated glutamine and asparagine indicated that higher numbers of bacteriophages were present at 7 hours in cases in which the glutamine and asparagine were sterilized by filtration. This is shown in the section concerned with the omission of nutrients.

While S. lactis strain 712 rapidly produced turbidity in the synthetic basal medium, all attempts to obtain multiplication of its homologous bacteriophage, F56, failed. The number of demonstrable bacteriophage particles declined after 2 to 3 hours incubation at 32° C. Adjusting the initial pH of the medium to pH 6.0, pH 7.0 and to various intervals between these two values had no detectable effect upon the multiplication of bacteriophage F56 in the synthetic basal medium.

An experiment was run to determine whether nine other bacteriophages would multiply on their respective host cells in the
synthetic medium. For this experiment the synthetic basal medium was supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80 so that
the susceptible cultures would multiply, and the glutamine and
asparagine were sterilized by filtration. The synthetic medium
was found inadequate for the multiplication of these bacteriophages (table 8) and actually permitted comparatively little
organism growth in most cases during the 7 hour period.

It was evident at this stage of the investigation that two courses of study were open. First, it was desirable to know the effect of the omission of nutrients from the synthetic basal medium upon the two bacteriophages which were found to multiply

Multiplication of bacteriophage on the synthetic basal medium supplemented with 2 mg./ml. sodium acetate and 2 mg./ml. Tween 80

		No. of bad	sterlophage	particles	
rganism strain	Bacterio- phage strain	0 hr.	3 hr.	6 hr.	Turbidity of control (7 hr.)
712	F56	2.5x10 ³	2.5x10 ³	3 x10 ¹	140
FH8	F65	9.5x10 ³	2.5x104	9.5x10 ³	4
318B/27	7 F74	2.0x10 ³	2.5x10 ³	2.0x10 ³	23
M1	F25	4.5x10 ²	2.5x10 ²	4.5x10	16
E8	F63	4.5x10 ²	4.5x10 ²	7 x10	27
IP5	F68	7.5x10 ²	3.0x10 ²	9 x10 ¹	21
HP	F59	2.0x102	4.5x10 ³	9.5x10	8
459	F52	4.5x10 ³	9.5x10 ²	7 x10	16
W4	F21	2.5x10 ³	2.5x10	2.5x10	46
122-1	F76	2.5x10 ³	2.0x10 ³	9.5x10 ³	11
•.					

on their respective host cells when grown in the synthetic basal medium; and secondly, it was desirable to know what changes in or additions to the supplemented basal medium were necessary to make it suitable for the proliferation of the several other strains of bacteriophage.

Effect of Omission of Nutrients Upon the Multiplication of Bacteriophages and Organisms of Combinations 565-F54 and W-2F24

In this study slightly different procedures were followed for the different trials. In the first trials, 100 ml. cuantities of media were placed in 6 oz. screw cap bottles, and plate counts were made at 0 hr. and 3 hr. to give an indication of organism growth. The end of 3 hours was chosen as the time for checking organism growth because it allowed sufficient time for differences in organism growth to develop and because there was little danger of a decline in cell count due to bacteriophage action until after three hours. A separate control culture was not used because several investigators have shown that during the early stages of growth the survival and normal curves of organism growth are quite similar. Also, since it had been found that autoclaving the glutamine and asparagine with a medium 11 minutes caused only slightly decreased growth with S. lactis strains 565, W2 and 712, glutamine and asparagine were autoclaved in the media for the first trials.

In the second trials media were prepared in quantities of 25 ml. and immediately after being inoculated with susceptible host cells, each lot of medium was divided into one 5 ml. and two 10 ml. quantities and placed in 16 x 125 mm. screw-cap culture tubes. To one 10 ml. quantity, 0.1 ml. of diluted bacteriophage filtrate was added. To the second 10 ml. quantity was added 0.1 ml. of heated diluted bacteriophage filtrate, and the 5 ml. quantity was used as a control on normal organism growth. Turbidity readings were made at 7 hours on the control and the control plus heated filtrate. With both trials media were allowed to reach 32° G. in a water bath, and susceptible organisms were added at 0 minus 25 minutes. At 0 minus 5 minutes the homologous bacteriophages were added.

The nutrients (tables 9,10,11 and 12) are listed in order of increasing concentration of bacteriophage for the second trial with combination 565-F54 (table 10). Such an arrangement of nutrients automatically arranged, with a few exceptions, the turbidity measurements in order of increasing organism growth (tables 10 and 12). This was shown to a lesser extent by plate counts at 3 hours (tables 9 and 11). If the absence of a nutrient decreased the growth of an organism, it also decreased the rate of multiplication of bacteriophage growing in combination with that organism and vice versa.

The omission of certain nutrients from the basal medium, namely, DL-phenylalanine, L-lysine, Ca pantothenate, pyridoxine,

Effect of the absence of nutrients upon the multiplication of Streptococcus lactis (565) and bacteriophage (F54) (first trial)

Nutrient omitted	No. of bac partic	steriophage cles	Total pla	
	o hr.	Thr. E	o hr.	5 hr.
Nicotinic acid DL-leucine L-glutamine	9.5×10^{2} 9.5×10^{2} 9.5×10^{2}	2.5 x 10 ² 4.5 x 10 ² 9.5 x 10 ²	1.7 x 106 1.5 x 106 1.6 x 106	4.8 x 106 1.7 x 106 1.3 x 106
DL-valine Thiamine DL-methionine L-arginine DL-isoleucine	9.5 x 10 ² 9.5 x 10 ²	1.5 x 10 ² 2.5 x 10 ² 9.5 x 10 ² 9.5 x 10 ⁴ 2.5 x 10 ⁴	1.7 x 106 1.8 x 10 1.5 x 106 1.3 x 106	1.7 x 107 1.7 x 106 4.0 x 106 1.3 x 107
Riboflavin DL-serine	9.5×10^{2} 9.5×10^{2}	$\frac{1.5 \times 10^5}{2.5 \times 10^5}$	1.8 x 106 1.7 x 106	PM 22 TF 111
Biotin Uracil L-histidine Adenine L-hydroxyproline DL-phenylalanine DL-alanine L-lysine DL-threonine Ca pantothenate	9.5 x 10 ² 9.5 x 10 ² 9.5 x 10 ² 9.5 x 10 ²	9.5 x 10 ³ 9.5 x 10 ⁴ 7.5 x 10 ₃ 2.5 x 10 ₅ 4.5 x 10 ₅ 9.5 x 10 ₅ 7.5 x 10 ₇ 2.5 x 10 ₇ 2.5 x 10 ₄	1.7 x 106 1.6 x 106 1.3 x 106 1.5 x 106	5.8 x 106 1.4 x 106 4.3 x 106 4.4 x 106 9.4 x 106 2.2 x 106 7.8 x 106 8.4 x 106
Pyridoxine Guanine L-tyrosine Asparagine Glycine DL-aspartic acid Xanthine L-cystine L-glutamic acid DL-tryptophane	9.5 x 102 9.5 x 102	2.5 x 107 2.5 x 106 2.5 x 106 2.5 x 105 2.5 x 105	1.5 x 106 1.8 x 106 1.4 x 106 1.5 x 106 1.5 x 106 1.3 x 106 1.4 x 106 1.5 x 106 1.5 x 106 1.7 x 106	1.6 x 106 8.5 x 106 2.2 x 107 9.0 x 107 1.1 x 107 1.6 x 107 1.4 x 107 3.4 x 107 2.5 x 107
L-proline DL-norleucine None	9.5×10^{2} 9.5×10^{2} 9.5×10^{2}	2.5 x 10 ⁷ 9.5 x 10 ⁷ 2.5 x 10	1.6 x 106 1.4 x 106 1.4 x 10	1.5 x 107 1.1 x 107 1.6 x 10

a Dilution 7 was highest dilution made for results in this column.

TABLE 10

Effect of the absence of nutrients upon the multiplication of Streptococcus lactis (565) and bacteriophage (F54) (second trial)

Nutrient omitted	Ö	of bacteri	10	Turbidity	(7 hr.)
	0		/ nr.	Control plus heated filtrate	Control
Nicotinic acid	4.5 ×	102	1.5 x 102	9	4
L-leucine	1.5 ×	201		<u>م</u> ا ر	ဖ
L-glutamine	4.5 X	No.	K	· Ø	10
Pro Line			K	13	77
Thiamine			K)	13	13
DL-methionine		202	K	25	227
L-arginine		76°	×	2	ev ev
DL-1soleucine		70°	X	~	H
Riboflavin		² 62		03 80	23
UL-serine	4.5 X	10%	K G	18	17
		C			
Diotin	4.5 X	10%	× S	9	15
Uracil	4*5 X		X O	1	4
L-histidine	1.5 X	100	K	10	ග
Adenine	1.5 ×		× 0.	18	18
L-hydroxyproline	io		K CO	15	15
DL-phenylalenine	ю	3	K	13	15
DI-alanine	1.5 X	S,	K	200	8
L-1ysine	1.5 x	10°	K 10	03	d
DL-threonine	1.5 X	601	U)	75	72
Ca pantothenate	w	07	×	03 03	80 80
	¥ .	CV C	U	E O	C
anson for	4 b	ကိုင် ရ) () () () () () () () () () (3 a	<u> </u>
1.1.4.4.5.0.4.5.9			() ()) o	1 O
	ic.) LC) C	8
		100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100		5 6	3 6
DI-aspartic acid	ı	No.	K K	3	100
	10	% TO:	K	7.2	ω CV
L-cystine	U)	10,	K	44	2
L-glutamic soid		or Or	K C	70	85
OL-tryptophane		200	9.5 x 10°	110	117
L-proline		103	4 0	97	90
orlencine	7.5 X		2 × 10	လ တ	හ ග
e To	*		S.	4 0	2

Effect of the absence of nutrients upon the growth of Streptococcus lactis (W2) and bacteriophage (F24) (first trial)

Nutrients		pacterlophage	Total pla	te count
omitted		rticles		
	O hr.	/ hr.	0 hr.	3 hr.
Nicotinic acid	9.5 x 10	2 2.0 × 10 ²	2.4×10^6	4.3 x 106
DL-leucine	9.5×10^{-2}	$0^{2} 2.0 \times 10^{2}$ $0^{2} 0 \times 10^{2}$	2.4×10^{6}	2.2 x 10 ⁶
L-glutamine	9.5 v 10	$\frac{2}{9.5}$ 9. 5 x $\frac{103}{9}$	2.1 x 106	3.3 x 106
DL-valine	9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10	$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & x & 10^2 \\ 2 & 0 & x & 10^5 \end{pmatrix}$	1.6×10^6	1.7 x 10%
Thiamine	9.5 x 10	$\frac{12}{2.5} \times \frac{10^{5}}{10^{5}}$	2.2 x 106	2.1 x 10,
DL-methionine	9.5 x 10	0.5×10^{5} 1.5×10^{5}	1.8×10^{6}	1.9 x 10,
L-arginine	9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10	2 1.5 x 10 ⁵	1.6 x 106	1.3 x 106
DL-isoleucine	9.5×10^{-1}	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2.1 x 106	4.4 x 10,6
Riboflavin	9.5 x 10	$^{\circ}_{2}$ 2.5 x $^{\circ}_{7}$	2.0 x 106	1.0 x 107
DL-serine	9.5×10^{-1}	2 2.5 x 10^{7}	2.5×10^6	2.1 x 10
Biotin	9.5 x 10	0^{2}_{2} 9.5 x 10^{3}_{6} 0.5 x 10^{2}_{6}	2.2 x 108	1.4 x 107 8.7 x 106
Uracil	9.5×10	1.5 x 100	1.6 x 10.	8.7×10^{6}
L-histidine	0.5 + 10		1.6×10^{6}	4.0×10^{6}
Adenine	9.5×10	2.5 x 10 ₇	1.6 x 106 1.6 x 106 2.4 x 106	1.9 x 10,
L-hydroxyproline	9.5×10	2 2.5 x 10 ₄	20	1.6 x 10
DL-phenylalanine	9.5×10^{-9}	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1.9 x 106 2.3 x 106 1.8 x 106	7.4 x 105
DL-alanine	9.5×10	7.5×10^{5}	2.3×10^{0}	Lay X 10m
L-lysine	9.5×10	$\binom{2}{5} 2.5 \times 10^{3}$	1.8 x 10°	1.6 x 10 ⁷ 7.0 x 10 ⁶
DL-threonine	9.5×10	$^{2}_{0}$ 4.0 x 10^{4}_{3}	1.8 x 10°	$7.0 \times 10^{\circ}$
Ca pantothenate	9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2.3×10^6	9.2 x 10 ⁶
Pyridoxine	9.5 x 10	8 2.5 x 107	2.6 x 106 2.0 x 106 2.2 x 106 1.5 x 106	1.8 x 107 2.1 x 107 2.0 x 107
Guanine	9.5 x 10	2.5 x 10	2.0 x 100	2.1 x 107
L-tyrosine	9.5 x 10	$9.5 \times 10^{\circ}$	2.2 x 10°	2.0 x 10,
Asparag ine	9.5×10) 4. 5 x 10 2	1.5×10^{0}	2.0 x 10.
Glycine		19 9 5 x 101	**** A 4/4	1.6 x 10,
DL-aspartic acid			$2.4 \times 10^{\circ}$	$2.3 \times 10^{\prime}$
Yantuine	A D X TO	O K*O X IU_	$2.6 \times 10^{\circ}$	3.1×10^{7}
L-cystine	9.5 x 10 9.5 x 10	1 54 15 18 11 15	2.4 x 106 2.6 x 106 1.9 x 106	2.3 x 10 ⁷ 3.1 x 10 ⁷ 1.8 x 10 ⁷
L-glutamic acid	$9.5 \times 10^{\circ}$	2 2.5 x 104 2 4.5 x 10	$2.0 \times 10^{\circ}_{6}$ $1.8 \times 10^{\circ}$	$1.7 \times 10_{7}$
DL-tryptophane	9.5 x 10) 4.5 x 10°		1.0 x 10'
L-proline	9.5 x 10	$^{2}_{0}$ 2.5 x 10^{6}_{5}	2.3 x 106 2.4 x 106 2.1 x 106	2.0 x 107
D1-norleucine	9.5×10) 2.5 x 10 x	$2.4 \times 10^{\circ}$	$8.6 \times 10\%$
None discourse	9.5 x 10	2.5 x 105 2 2.5 x 106 9.5 x 10	2.1 x 10°	8.0×10

a Dilution 7 was highest dilution made for results in this column.

TABLE 12

Effect of the absence of nutrients upon the growth of Streptococcus lactis (W2) and bacteriophage (F24) (second trial)

Nutrient omitted		cterlophage ticles	Turbidity (7 hr.	
	o hr.	V hr.	Control plus heated filtrate	Control
Nicotinic acid	1.5×10^3	9.5×10^{5}	11	13
DL-leucine	2.5×10^{3}	9.5×10^4	ĪĪ	īi
L-glutamine	2.5 x 10 ³ 1.5 x 10 ³ 2.5 x 10 ³ 1.5 x 10 ³	2.0 v 104	īī	14
DL-valine	2.5×10^{3}	9.5×10^{2}	3	
Thiamine	1.5×10^{3}	4.5×10^{8}	55	55
DL-methionine	2.5×10^3	2.5 x 10,	6	9
L-arginine	2.5×10^{3}	4.0 x 10,	50	2 i
DL-isoleucine	2.5×10^{3}	2.5 x 108	9	9
Riboflavin	1.5×10^{3}	273	62	62
DL-serine	2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 1.5 x 103 1.5 x 103	4.5 x 108	28	27
Biotin	2.5×10^3	4.5 x 108	19	20
Uracil	2.5 x 10.3	4.5×10	35	51
L-histidine	2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 1.5 x 103 1.5 x 103	2.5×10^{5}	4	4
Adenine	1.5×10^{3}	9.5×10^{5}	60	59
L-hydroxyproline	1.5×10^{3}	1.5×10^8	60	60
DL-phenylelanine	2.5×10^{3}	$8-5 \times 10^{9}$	50	45
DL-alanine	2.5×10^{3}		20	24
L-lysine	2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 2.5 x 103	2.5 x 108	58	60
Mthreonine	2.5 x 10°		60	60
Ca pentothenate	2.5×10^3	2.5×10^4	40	35
Pyridoxine	1.5×10^{3}	1.5×10^{9}	54	56
Guanine	1.5×10^{3}	915 x 10'	64	6 6
L-tyrosine	2.5 x 10	9.5 x 10%	53	59
Asparagine	1.5 x 103 2.5 x 103 1.5 x 103	735 M 317 A 201 A	63	67
Glycine	2.5 x 10°	$4.5 \times 10^{\circ}$	51	52
DI -aspantic acid	1.5 x 10§	T*O X TOO	61	65
Xanthine	1.5×10^{3} 2.5×10^{3}	4.5 x 10	79	79
L-cystine	$2.5 \times 10^{\circ}$	4.5×10^{8}	45	57
L-glutamic acid	2.5 x 10 ³ 2.5 x 10	9.5×10^{8}	55	55
DL-tryptophane	2.5 x 10°	2.5 x 10 ⁸	54	54
L-proline	2.5 x 103	9.5×10^{7}	45	48
DL-norleucine	2.5 x 10 ³	4.5 x 10'	43	44
None	1.5×10^{3}	4.5×10^8	54	58

L-tyrosine and asparagine with combination 565-F54 (table 10), and DL-methionine, DL-isoleucine, DL-serine, biotin and DL-elanine with combination W2-F24 (table 12) seemed to have greater detrimental effect upon the development of turbidity by the bost organisms during the 7 hour period than upon the multiplication of the homologous bacteriophages. Upon rechecking this point (tables 13 and 14), such results seemed to arise from variations in the activity of the organisms and bacteriophages during the 7 hour period; however, this effect was still pronounced when either DL-serine or DL-alanine was omitted from the medium for combination W2-F24. This point was investigated further by checking the growth of W2 and F24 at various intervals as shown in table 15. Omitting OL-serine from the basal medium had only a slight effect upon the growth of W2. also was a slight decrease in the rate of bacteriophage proliferation. The large differences in turbidity at 7 hours seem not to have resulted from differences in the numbers of organisms. This information further indicated that bacterioph ge multiplication was very closely associated with the rate of organism multiplication.

The absence of Ca pantothenate from the besal medium for combination W2-F24 seemed to be more harmful to be teriophage proliferation than to the multiplication of susceptible host cells (table 12); but, this effect was not evident when the experiment was repeated (table 14), and it did not appear to be demonstrated in the first trial (table 11).

TABLE 13

Effect of the absence of nutrients upon the multiplication of Streptococcus lactis (565) and bacteriophage (F54) (third trial)

Nutrient omitted	No. of bac partic	teriophage les	Turbidity (7 hr.)	
	0 111.	y nr	Control plus heated filtrate	Control
DL-phenylalanine	9.5 x 10 ²	4.5×10^{5}	19	18
L-lysine	9.5×10^{2}	9.5 x 10 ⁶	45	40
Pantothenic acid	9.5×10^{2}	2.5 x 10 ³	20	20
Pyridoxine	9.5×10^{2}	9.5 x 10 ⁸	130	129
L-tyrosine	9.5 x 10 ²	9.5 x 10 ⁸	132	136
Asparagine	9.5×10^2	1.5 x 109	144	139
None	9.5×10^{2}	9.5×10^8	158	154

Effect of the absence of nutrients upon the multiplication of Streptococcus lactis (W2) and bacteriophage (F24) (third trial)

Nutrient omitted	No. of bac partic	terlophage les	Turbidity (7 hr.)	
	0 hr.	10.2	Control plus heated filtrate	Control
DL-methionine	1.5 x 10 ³	2.5 x 10 ⁵	13	14
DL-isoleucine	1.5×10^3	9.5×10^5	18	20
DL-serine	1.5 x 10 ³	2.5×10^9	43	44
Biotin	1.5×10^3	9.5×10^6	30	34
DL-alanine	1.5 x 10 ³	4.5 x 10 ⁸	25	28
Ca pantothenate	1.5×10^3	2.5 x 10 ⁵	19	17
None	1.5 x 10 ³	2.5 x 10 ⁸	93	93

Effect of the absence of serine upon the multiplication of Streptococcus lactis (W2) and bacteriophage (F24)

0 2.5x1 1 1/2 9.5x1 3 1/4 9.5x1 5 9.5x1 6 4.5x1	rol DL-sering omitted 03 2.5x103 03 7.5x105 05 1.5x105	3.12x10 ⁶ 1.36x10 ⁷	0m1tted 2.90x10 ⁶ 1.08x10 ⁷	4.9x10 ⁶ 2.0x10 ⁷	omitted 6.4x10 ⁶ 2.3x10 ⁷
1 1/2 9.5x1 3 1/4 9.5x1 5 9.5x1 6 4.5x1	0 ³ 7.5x10 ³	1.36x10 ⁷	1.08×10 ⁷	2.0x107	2.3x10 ⁷
3 1/4 9.5x1 5 9.5x1 6 4.5x1					
5 9.5xl	0 ⁵ 1.5x10 ⁵	4.35x107	4.30x10 ⁷	3.5x10 ⁷	7 02107
6 4.5xl				and the second second second	I *UXTO
	07 2.5x107	1.15x10 ⁸	9.3x10 ⁷	8.0x108	1.8x10 ⁸
7 2.5x1	08 4.5x107	2.08x108	1.18x108	2.5x10 ⁸	1.9x10 ⁸
	0 ⁷ 1.5x10 ⁸	2.46x10 ⁸	1.36x10 ⁸	2.1x108	2.8x10 ⁸
8 1/4 9.5x1	0 ⁷ 4.5x10 ⁷	2.30x108	1.66x10 ⁸	4.2x108	5.6x10 ⁸
10 4.5x1		8 00-108	1 95×10 ⁸	-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Note:

Ten ml. of culture was removed from each test bottle after inoculating with organism. At 7 hr. turbidity readings of these cultures were: control 63 and Dlserine omitted 26. There was very little difference in the observed turbidity of these cultures at 10 hr. Total plate counts on plates containing 1 ml. filtrate/plate were 0 colony on duplicate 10 plates at 10 hr.

S. lactis strain 565 is more fastidious in its nutritional requirements than strain W2. While strain W2 (tables 11 and 12) developed just as readily in the absence of any one of the following nutrients: thiamine, riboflavin, pyridoxine, DL-phenylalanine, L-lysine, L-hydroxyproline, and adenine, the omission of any one of these nutrients from the basal medium reduced very markedly the growth of strain 565 (table 10).

S. lactis strain W2 differed from the 21 strains reported by Niven (1944) in that all 21 of those strains required pyridoxine for the development of normal turbidity.

When glutamine and asparagine were autoclaved in the medium (table 9 and 11), bacteriophage multiplication was generally less than when filtered glutamine and asparagine were added to the medium (tables 10 and 12). This possibly was due to decreased organism growth.

Effect of the Addition of Nutrients Upon the Multiplication of Bacteriophages and Organisms of Combinations Other Than 565-F54 and W-2-F24

A study was undertaken to determine what alteration or supplementation of the synthetic medium was necessary to make it suitable for the proliferation of bacteriophage strains other than F54 and F24 which have been shown to multiply in the basal medium.

Ouring most of this study only two combinations, 712-F56 and E8-F63, were used because a more informative study could

be made while working with only two bacteriophage-organism combinations and because these were representative of a large number of bacteriophage-organism combinations. S. lactis strain 712 grew very rapidly on the basal medium, while S. cremoris strain E8 represented a larger number of S. cremoris strains which grew on the basal medium only when it was supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80 or with a more complex supplement, and even then growth during the first few hours was considerably slower than was the growth of S. lactis strain 712 during the same period.

A standard procedure was used throughout this work. The various media indicated were prepared in quantities of 50 ml. and aseptically dispensed in quantities of 10 ml. into 16 x 125 mm. screw cap culture tubes. This gave two tubes of a medium for each combination, one to be used as an index of organism growth and the other to be used as an index of bacteriophage proliferation. The fifth tube of medium was used to standardize the Klett-Summerson photoelectric colorimeter. After allowing the medium to reach 32° C. in a water bath, at 0 minus 25 minutes, 0.1 ml. of resuspended cells was added to each of the two tubes; and at 0 minus 5 minutes, 0.1 ml. of diluted filtrete was added to the tube used for the determination of bacteriophage proliferation. Determinations of bacteriophage concentration and turbidity measurements were made as indicated.

Since the synthetic medium seemed to lack some growth

factor or factors necessary for the adsorption or multiplication of the bacteriophages, several attempts were made to secure bacteriophage multiplication by supplementing the medium. The addition of supplement II, which made the synthetic medium relatively complete with known growth factors important in bacterial nutrition and also included reticulogen, caused a slight increase in F56, but seemed completely inadequate for F63 (tables 16 and 17). While the addition of reticulogen did not cause becteriophage multiplication, the growth of <u>S. cremoris</u> (E8) was stimulated during the 7 hour experimental period. The addition of such complex substances as yeast extract, hydrolyzed casein, tomato juice, peptonized milk and dried skim milk in small quantities, while supporting considerable growth of organisms, did not produce any significant effect upon the multiplication of bacteriophages F56 and F63.

To improve the anaerobic conditions of the medium small quantities of thioglycollic acid and cysteine were added and cultures were grown in an atmosphere consisting of about 10 per cent carbon dioxide and 90 per cent hydrogen (table 18). These modifications of the medium had little effect on organism growth and did not result in bacteriophage proliferation. The addition of casein hydrolysate and extra K2HPO4 in addition to the thioglycollic acid and cysteine stimulated organism growth, but did not cause increases in bacteriophage.

Since the synthetic medium was not highly buffered, the K2HPO4 content was increased to maintain a pH level more nearly

Multiplication of S. lactis (712) and bacteriophage (F56) on the synthetic basal medium supplemented with 2 mg./ml. sodium acetate, 2 mg./ml. Tween 80 and as indicated

	No. of be	cterioph	age parti	cles		Turbid-
(/100 ml. medium)	0 hr.	3 hr.	4 hr.	6 hr.	7 hr.	ity of control 7 hr.
None	1.5x10 ²	***	< 1×10 ²	***	<1x10 ²	147
Reticulogen (20 microl.)	1.5x10 ²	-100 Augus	<1x10 ²	**************************************	<1x10 ²	152
Supplement IIa	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ²		4.0x10 ⁵	***	142
Yeast extract (0.5 g.)	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ²	eric ya	<1x10 ²		135
Whey (10 ml.)	4.5x10 ²	3x10 ¹	***	<1x10 ²	***	102
Casein hydrolysate (5 ml.)	4.5x10 ²	3x10 ¹	**************************************	7.5x10 ⁵		162
Casein hy- drolysate (5 ml.)	1.5x10 ²	****	<1x10 ²	₩ ***	9.5x10 ²	177
Trypticase ^b (0.5 g.)	1.5x10 ²	***	4.0x10 ¹		2.5x10 ³	181
Dried Skim milk (1.0 g.)	1.5x10 ²	thác 1884	1.5x10 ²	, minis again	4.5x10 ⁵	with Allis

a See table 1

b A pencreatic digest of casein

TABLE 17

Multiplication of S. cremoris (E8) and bacteriophage (F63) on the synthetic basal medium supplemented with 2 mg./ml. sodium acetate, 2 mg./ml. Tween 80 and as indicated

Supplement	No. of	bacterio	phage pa	rticles		Turbid-
(/100 ml. medium)	0 hr.	3 hr.	4 hr.	6 hr.	7 hr.	ity of control 7 hr.
None	9.5x10 ²	***	9.5x10 ²	***	2.5x10	18
Reticulogen (20 microl.)	9.5x10 ²	·	4.5x10 ²		7.0x10	56
Supplement IIa	9.5x10 ²	2.5x103	eptir mine	1.5x10 ²	1000 sine.	70
Yeast extract (0.5 g.)	9.5x10 ²	9.5x10 ²	****	4.0x10 ¹	***	60
Whey (10 ml.)	9.5x10 ²	9.5 x10 ²	gas via:	9.0x10 ¹	·	13
Casein hy- drolysate (5 ml.)	9.5x10 ²	4.5x10 ²	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	4.5x10 ³	***	86
Casein hy- drolysate (5 ml.)	9.5x10 ²	**	9.5 x10 ³	•	2.0x104	100
Trypticase (0.5 g.)	9.5x10 ²		1.5x10 ³	All the section	7.0x10	85
Dried skim milk (1.0 g.)	9.5x10 ²	***	4.5x10 ²	. Andrews	9.0x10 ¹	

a See table 1

TABLE 18

Multiplication of organism and bacteriophage in anaerobic jar on the synthetic basal medium supplemented with 2 mg./ml. sodium acetate, 2 mg./ml. Tween 80 and as indicated

Organism- bacteriophage	Supplement (/100 ml.	No. of bac part	Turbidity of	
combination	medium)	O hr.	7 hr.	control (7 hr.)
	Thioglycollic acid, 10 microl.; cysteine, 10 mg.	9.5x10 ³	7.5x10 ²	136
712-F56	Thioglycollic scid, 10 microl.; cysteine, 10 mg.; casein hy- drolysate, 5 ml.	9.5x10 ³	<1x10 ²	183
	Thioglycollic acid, 10 microl. cysteine, 10 mg.; K2HPO4 in- creased to 1 g.	9.5x10 ³	4.0x10 ¹	180
	Thioglycollic acid, 10 microl.; cysteine, 10 mg.	, 4.5x10 ²	7.0x10 ¹	9
E8-F63	Thioglycollic acid, 10 microl.; cysteine, 10 mg.; case in hy- drolysate, 5 mg.	4.5x10 ²	9.0x10 ¹	95
	Thioglycollate acid, 10 microl.; cysteine, 10 mg.; K2HPO4 increased to 1 g.	4.5x10 ²	9.0x10 ¹	42

like that of milk, which was considered optimum for bacteriophage multiplication (tables 19 and 20). When enough phosphate was included to buffer the lactic acid formed sufficiently to keep the pH of the medium above pH 6.0, organism growth was greatly decreased. An increase in the K2HPO4 content to 1 per cent improved organism growth, but it did not cause multiplication of bacteriophages. With the K2HPO4 content of the medium increased to 1 per cent, tomato juice, proteose peptone and peptonized milk were again added to the medium; but, the medium was still inadequate for bacteriophage multiplication (tables 19 and 20). Actually the concentrations of demonstrable bacteriophages decreased.

Upon finding that 5 per cent dried skim milk when added to the supplemented basal medium caused only a slight proliferation of F56 and no detectible effect upon F63 (tables 19 and 20), which is incompatible with the fact that liquid skim milk is used routinely in laboratories for the propagation of bacteriophages active against the lactic group of streptococci, a trial was made using reconstituted 5 per cent dried skim milk. The reconstituted skim milk allowed rapid proliferation of both bacteriophages (table 21), while plate counts on the control cultures revealed that the susceptible organisms growing in the absence of bacteriophages did not reach as high concentrations in the reconstituted skim milk as in the basal medium supplemented with dried skim milk (tables 19 and 20). While the multiplication

TABLE 19

Effect of phosphate concentration on multiplication of S. lactis (712) and bacteriophage (F56) in basal synthetic medium supplemented with 2 mg./ml. sodium acetate, 2 mg./ml. Tween 80 and as indicated

Phosphate concentra-	Supple- ment		acteriopl rticles		urbid- ty of	ingeneral literación y est titología a está a Medica está de les constituires a esta del desegna
tion (g./100 ml. medium)	(/100 ml. medium)	0 hr.	4 hr.		ontrol 7 hr.)	Remarks
K ₂ HPO ₄ , 3.3 g. KH ₂ PO ₄ , 2.5 g.	None	2.5x10 ²	4.0x10 ¹	<1x10 ²	S1. turbid	M.P.N. at 10 hr was<1x102
KH ₂ HPO ₄ , 3.3 g. KH ₂ PO ₄ , 2.5 g.	Casein hydro- lysate, 5 ml.	2.5x10	< 1×10 ²	<1x10 ²	S1. turbid	M.P.N. at 10 hr was<1x102
K ₂ HPO4; 1.1 g. KH ₂ PO4; 0.9 g.	None	9.5x10 ³	9.5x10 ²	2.5x10 ²	5 214	**
K ₂ HPO ₄ ; 1.1 g. KH ₂ PO ₄ ; 0.9 g.	Casein hydro- lysate, 5 ml.	9.5x10 ³	9.5x10 ³	1.5x10 ⁴	18 6	***
1.0 g.	None	1.5x10 ³	9.5x10 ²	4.5x10 ⁴		pH at 7 hr. was 5.6
No phosphate	None	9.5x10 ²	***	9.5x10 ²	No visibl growth	ė
# \ 1 zed	Tomato juice, 4 ml.; pro- peptone; g.pepton- milk. le	0 1.5x10 ³	2.5x10 ²	<1x10 ^k	305	pH at 7 hr. was 4.7
K2HP046 g.	oried skim milk, 5	1.5×10 ³	1.5x10 ⁴	4.5x10 ⁵	e e	pH at 7 hr. was 5.30

a Actual plate count at 7 hr. was 1.8 x 10

TABLE 20

Effect of phosphate concentration on multiplication of S.cremoris (E8) and bacteriophage (F63) in basal synthetic medium supplemented with 2 mg./ml. sodium acetate, 2 mg./ml. Tween 80 and as indicated

Phosphate concentra-	Supple- ment		cacterion	K NAME .	urbid- ty of	Remarks
(g./100 ml. medium)	(/100 ml. medium)	O hr.		¢	ontrol	
X ₂ HPO ₄ , 3.3 g. XH ₂ PO ₄ , 2.5 g.	None	9.5x10 ²	9.5x10 ²		No visible growth	40 3
C2HPO4. 3.3 g. CH2PO4. 2.5 g.	Casein hydrol- ysate, 5 ml.	9.5x10 ⁸	4.5x10 ²			
111 g. 111 g. (H ₂ PO41 g.	None	4.5x10	9.5x10 ²	2.5x10 ²	46	***
CHPO 4: g. CH ₂ PO 4: g. CH ₂ PO 4: g.	Casein hydrol- ysate, 5 ml.	4.5x10 ²	4.5x10 ²	< 1×10 ²	88	taga baran (ga affin), Milya ing noo san indisin kali dalah kali dalah san dalah san dalah san dalah san dalah Mana Santi
lio g.	None	9.5x10 ²	7.5x10 ²	1.5x10 ²	46	pH at 7 hr. was 6.4
No hosphate	None	9.5x10 ²		4.5x10 ²	No visible growth	
2HPO4. 1.0 g. teose pepte	Tomato juice, 4 ml.;pro- one #3,		9.5x10 ²	< 1x10 ²		
1.0 g.; per milk, 1.0 g. 2HPO4.	otonized g. Dried	9-5-10	2.5xl0 ³	2.5+103	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	pH at 7 hr. was
***	milk, 5 g		~ * VAAV	- OAAU	•	5.85

a Actual plate count at 7 hr. was 1.9 x 108

Table 21

Multiplication of bacteriophage-organism combinations on reconstituted 5% dried skim milk

Bac-	No. of b	acteriop	hage par	tlcles		Plete
ter- io- phage	0 hr.	4 hr.	6 hr.	7 hr.	7 hr.	count of control 7 hr.
F56	1.5x10 ³	4.5x10 ⁶	***	4.5x10 ⁷	6.55	3.3x10 ⁷
F56	9.5x102	· ###	2.5x10	7	6.55	1.2x10 ⁷
F63	9.5x10 ²	2.5x10 ⁷	9.	2.5x10 ^{9a}	6.50	8.2x10 ⁷
F63	9.5x10 ²	****	2.5x10 ⁸	98	6.55	7.0x10 ⁷
	ter- io- ohage F56 F56	ter- io- ohage 0 hr. phage 1.5x10 ³ F56 9.5x10 ² F63 9.5x10 ²	ter- io- 0 hr. 4 hr. phage F56 1.5x10 ³ 4.5x10 ⁶ F56 9.5x10 ² F63 9.5x10 ² 2.5x10 ⁷	ter- io- 0 hr. 4 hr. 6 hr. phage F56 1.5x10 ³ 4.5x10 ⁶ F56 9.5x10 ² 2.5x10 ⁷ F63 9.5x10 ² 2.5x10 ⁷⁸	ter- io- io- io- ohage F56 1.5x10 ³ 4.5x10 ⁶ 4.5x10 ⁷ F56 9.5x102 2.5x10 ⁷ F63 9.5x10 ² 2.5x10 ^{7a} 2.5x10 ^{9a}	ter- io- io- ohage F56 1.5x10 ³ 4.5x10 ⁶ 4.5x10 ⁷ 6.55 F56 9.5x10 ² 2.5x10 ⁷ 6.55 F63 9.5x10 ² 2.5x10 ^{7a} 2.5x10 ^{9a} 6.50

a Highest dilution made.

of organisms was expected to be greater in the medium consisting of the synthetic medium, dried skim milk and 1 per cent K2HPO4 than in reconstituted skim milk, it was surprising that significant bacteriophage multiplication occurred only in the reconstituted skim milk. Since the medium which supported no appreciable multiplication of the bacteriophages was the more nutritive medium, it seemed that some constituent of the synthetic medium might be inhibitory to bacteriophage action.

upon omitting various nutrients from the synthetic medium supplemented with 5 per cent dried skim milk (tables 22 and 23), it was found that when all constituents of the medium except K_2HPO_4 were included both bacteriophages developed very rapidly. However, when K_2HPO_4 was included in the medium, bacteriophage multiplication either did not take place or was very much slower than in the medium containing no K_2HPO_4 .

Ammonium phosphate and sodium citrate also were found to prevent bacteriophage proliferation when added to the synthetic medium containing dried skim milk, while the presence of sodium acetate seemed to have no appreciable effect (table 24). Thus it seemed that the phosphate ion was inhibiting bacteriophage action, possibly by making unavailable some nutrient which was essential for bacteriophage proliferation. That ammonium phosphate and sodium citrate inhibited bacteriophage multiplication while sodium acetate did not was not conclusive proof that the encountered inhibition of bacteriophage multiplication was

TABLE 22

Effect of omission of nutrients from synthetic medium containing K2HPO4, 1 g./100 ml.; dried skim milk, 5 g./100 ml. and supplement XI2, on the multiplication of S. lactis (712) and bacteriophage (F56)

Nutrients omitted	No. of bacteriophage particles		
	0	hr.	6 hr.
lone	9.5	x 10 ²	4.0×10^{1}
mino acids	9.5	x 10 ²	1.5 x 10 ²
urine and pyrimidine bases	9.5	x 10 ²	9.0 x 101
odium thioglycollate and Tween 80	9.5	x 10 ²	0 x 10 ²
itamins, glutamine and asparagine	9.5	x 10 ²	4.0 x 10 ¹
inerals, sodium acetate, glucose, KgHPO4	9.5	x 10 ²	9.5 x 10 ⁸
gso ₄ • 7 Hoh	9.5	x 10 ²	9.5×10^4
ncl ₂ * 4 HOH	9.5	x 10 ²	4.0 x 10 ¹
eso ₄ • 7 HoH	9.5	x 10 ²	0 x 10 ²
lucose	9.5	x 10 ²	0 x 10 ²
odium acetate	9.5	x 10 ²	4.5 x 10 ²
2HP04	9.5	x 10 ²	9.5×10^{8}

a See table 1

TABLE 23

Effect of omission of nutrients from synthetic medium containing K_2HPO_4 , 1 g./100 ml.; dried skim milk, 5 g./100 ml. and supplement XI^a , on the multiplication of S. cremoris (E8) and bacteriophage (F63)

Nutrient omitted	No. of bacteriophage particles			
	0 hr.	6 hr.		
None	9.5 x 10 ²	1.5×10^{2}		
Amino acids	9.5×10^{2}	7.0×10^{1}		
Purine and pyrimidine bases	9.5×10^2	1.5×10^{2}		
Sodium thioglycollate and Tween 80	9.5×10^2	2.5 x 10 ²		
Vitamins, glutamine and asparagine	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5×10^{2}		
Minerals, sodium acetate, glucose, K_2HPO_4	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5 x 10 ^{9b}		
MgSo ₄ • 7 HoH	4.5×10^2	9.0 x 101		
MnCl ₂ · 4 HOH	4.5×10^2	4.0×10^{1}		
FeSO ₄ • 7 HOH	4.5×10^2	4.0×10^{1}		
Glucose	4.5×10^{2}	4.0×10^{1}		
Sodium acetate	4.8×10^2	1.5 x 10 ²		
K2HPO4	4.5 x 10 ²	2.5 x 10 ^{9b}		

a See table 1

b Dilution 9 was highest dilution made

TABLE 24

Effect of buffers on multiplication of bacteriophages in reconstituted 5 per cent dried skim milk

Bacterio-	Buffer	No. of bacteriophage particles		
phage	(1 per cent)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	6 hr.	
	Ammonium phosphate, dibasic	9.5 x 10 ⁸	4.5 x 10 ²	
F56	Sodium acetate	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5 x 10 ⁷	
	Sodium citrate	9.5 x 10 ²	3.0 x 10 ¹	
	Ammonium phosphate, dibssic	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5 x 10 ²	
F63	Sodium acetate	9.5×10^{2}	4.5×10^{7}	
	Sodium citrate	9.5×10^2	4.0 x 10 ¹	

of however, it seemed adequate as a basis for further experimenta-This explanation seemed likely in that the autoclaving caused by the phosphate ion rather than by the potassium ion; Ø ceused containing dried skim milk and KeHPO4 brown color and a slight precipitation. media

per autoclaving did not make the medium adequate for bacteriophage 2 HOH and K2HPO4 to the reconstituted skim milk prior of Belleving that by adding CaCl2, Stassano and de Beaufort (1925) and Bordet and Renaux (1928) had solved similar situaand by sterilizing all ingredients separately and realized in several cases where the components of the medium multiplication; but, with bacteriophage F56, increases were The addition of small amounts dried skim milk the effect of 0.5 the HOH in cent K2HPO4 by mixing the ingredients prior to sutoclaving sod1um 4 HOH did not mixing them after cooling (table 27). The addition of cent In no case tions, efforts were made to overcome with CaClg . inhibition of 0.5 per cent Kg HPO4 or 0.5 per . 7 HOM and Mn012 . calcium chloride. were autoclaved separately. citrate completely overcome. reconstituted 5 per cent . 7 HOH. PeSO4 crease the effect of (table 25)

An experiment was run to determine how much $\mathbf{K}_{\mathcal{C}}\mathbf{HPO}_{\mathbf{4}}$ could per L() added to the synthetic medium supplemented with

TABLE 25

Effect of CaCl₂ • 2 HoH added before autoclaving in counteracting the effect of K₂HPO₄ (0.5 g./100 ml.) on bacteriophage multiplication in reconstituted 5 per cent dried skim milk

acterio-	CaCla · SHOH conc.	No. of bacter partic	* ~	
phage	(g.7100 ml.)	0 hr.	6 hr.	
	None	9.5×10^2	4.5×10^{2}	
	0.4 g.	Coagulated 1	apon heating	
F56	0.2 g.	9.5×10^{2}	1.5×10^3	
	0.1 g.	9.5×10^2	2.5×10^3	
n kalan jima kalan ja kalan kalan kan daga kalan ja kalan ja kalan ja kalan ja kalan ja kalan kalan kalan ja k	None	9.5 x 10 ²	1.1 x 10 ²	
	0.4 g.	Coagulated 1	apon hesting	
F63	0.2 g.	9.5 x 10 ²	4.0×10^{1}	
	0.1 g.	9.5 x 10 ²	4.0×10^{1}	

TABLE 26

Effect of CaCl₂ · 2HOH in counteracting the effect of K₂HPO₄ (0.5 g./100 ml.) on bacteriophage (F56) multiplication in reconstituted 5 per cent dried skim milk

(All ingredients were neutralized to pH 6.7, autoclaved and mixed after cooling.)

CaCl ^S • SHOH	Additional salt	No. of bacteriophage particles			
cone. (g./100 ml.)	supplement	0 hr.	6 hr.		
None	None	9.5 x 10 ²	9.5×10^3		
0.5 g.	Supplement XVa	9.5 x 10 ²	9.5 x 104		
0.4 8.	None	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5×10^5		
0.2 g.	None	9.5 x 10 ²	9.5×10^4		
0.2 g.	Supplement XV ^a	9.5×10^2	9.5×10^4		
0.1 g.	None	9.5×10^2	4.5×10^5		
0.05 g.	None	9.5×10^{2}	2.5×10^5		

a See table 1

TABLE 27

Effect of CaCl₂ · 2HOH in counteracting the effect of sodium citrate (0.5 g./100 ml.) on bacteriophage (F56) multiplication in reconstituted 5 per cent dried skim milk

(All ingredients were neutralized to pH 6.7, autoclaved and mixed after cooling.)

supplement	0 hr.	6 hr.
None	9.5×10^2	2.5 x 10 ³
None	9.5×10^2	9.5 x 10 ⁵
None	9.5 x 10 ²	1.5 x 10 ⁶
Supplement XV ^a	9.5×10^2	4.5 x 10 ⁵
None	9.5 x 10 ²	4.5 x 10 ⁵
None	9.5×10^{2}	2.5 x 10 ⁵
	None None Supplement XV ^a None	None 9.5×10^2 None 9.5×10^2 Supplement XV ^a 9.5×10^2 None 9.5×10^2

a See table 1

cent dried skim milk without affecting bacteriophage multiplication. The concentration of K2HPO4 in the basal synthetic medium was to be decreased to this concentration before making additional efforts to obtain bacteriophage multiplication in the synthetic medium. The addition of 1.0 or 0.5 per cent K2HPO4 (table 28) prevented bacteriophage multiplication in reconstituted 5 per cent skim milk, whereas the addition of 0.1 per cent K2HPO4 did not prevent normal multiplication of bacteriophages F56 and F63. The adding of 1 per cent sterile K2HPO4 to the reconstituted skim milk after autoclaving seemed much less detrimental to the proliferation of bacteriophage F56 than autoclaving the K2HPO4 in the medium, but this difference in effect was not noted for bacteriophage F63.

In the basal medium supplemented with supplement XIV, bacteriophages did not multiply when the K_2HPO_4 content was decreased from 0.4 per cent to 0.1, 0.05 and 0.01 per cent (tables 29 and 30). The glucose content was also decreased to keep down the production of acid by the bacteria.

In cases in which the glucose content was decreased, determinations of pH using a quinhydrone potentiometric system revealed that at 7 hr. the pH values were higher than that of combination W2-F24 in synthetic medium and that of combination 712-F56 in synthetic medium containing no K2HPO4 and supplemented with small quantities of dried skim milk. While no pH values have been given for combination W2-F24 in synthetic medium or combination 712-F56 in the supplemented medium, in both cases the

TABLE 28

Effect of K₂HPO₄ on multiplication of bacteriophage on susceptible host cells in synthetic medium supplemented with 5 per cent dried skim milk

sacterio-	K ₂ HPO ₄ conc. (g./100 ml.)	No. of bacteriophage particles		
phage		O hr.	6 hr.	
	1.0 g.	9.5 x 10 ²	4.0×10^{1}	
£ .	0.5 g.	9.5×10^2	2.5 x 10 ²	
F56	0.1 g.	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5 x 10 ⁹⁸	
	0.0 8.	9.5×10^2	2.5×10^{98}	
	1.0 g.b	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5 x 10 ⁵	
maaranaa ah a	1.0 g.	9.5 x 10 ²	1.5 x 10 ²	
	0.5 g.	9.5 x 10 ²	9.0 x 10 ¹	
F63	0.1 g.	9.5 x 10 ²	2.5×10^{98}	
	0.0 g.	9.5×10^2	9.5 x 10 ⁸	
	1.0 g. b	9.5 x 10 ²	7.0 x 10 ¹	

a Dilution 9 was the highest dilution made.

b K2HPO4 autoclaved separately and added after cooling.

TABLE 29

Effect of K2HPO4 concentration on multiplication of S. lactis (712) and bacteriophage (F56) in basal synthetic medium supplemented with supplement XIVa

onc.	cone.		of bac parti	teriophage cles		pH of unin-	
g./100 (ml.)		0	hr.	7 hr.		ocula- ted medium	control (7 hr.)
0.4 g.	0.5 g.	4.5	x 10 ²	<1 x 10 ²	4.90	6.65	166
0.1 g.	0.5 g.	4.5	x 10 ²	4.5×10^3	4.65	6.60	149
0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5	x 10 ²	$< 1 \times 10^4$	5.20	6.60	88
0.01 g.	0.1 g.	4.5	x 10 ²	$<1 \times 10^4$	5.05	6.60	85
None	0.1 g.	4.5	x 10 ²	$<1 \times 10^4$	6.40	6.55	2
0.04 g.	Noneb	4.5	x 10 ²	$<1 \times 10^4$	6.30	6.60	4

a See table 1

b Lactose, 0.2 g., was substituted for glucose.

Effect of K_PHPO₄ concentration on multiplication of S.

cremoris (E8) and bacteriophage (F63) in basal synthetic

medium supplemented with supplement XIV⁸

	Glucose conc. (g./100 ml.)	No. of bacteriophage particles		pH	-	Turbidity of
(g./100 ml.)		0 hr.	7 hr.	# T		(7 hr.)
0.4 g.	0.5 g.	4.5×10^{2}	<1 x 10 ²	6.30	6.65	44
0.1 g.	0.5 g.	4.5×10^2	4×10^{1}	5.75	6.60	52
0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5×10^{2}	$< 1 \times 10^4$	5.70	6.60	25
0.01 g.	0.1 g.	4.5×10^{2}	$<1 \times 10^4$	5.60	6.60	81
None	0.1 g.	4.5 x 10 ²	$<1 \times 10^4$	6.50	6.55	2
0.04 g.	Noneb	4.5×10^{2}	$<1 \times 10^4$	6.10	6.60	15

a See table 1

b Lactose, 0.2 g., was substituted for glucose.

pH values were generally below pH 5.0 at 7 hours. This indicated that the failure of bacteriophages to multiply in the synthetic medium containing only small amounts of K_2HPO_4 was not due to the pH of the medium.

The substitution of lactose (tables 29 and 30) for glucose was to no evail other than to point out that <u>S</u>. <u>lactis</u> strain 712 no longer was able to ferment lactose rapidly.

With cases in which the K2HPO4 content was decreased below 0.1 per cent (tables 29 and 30) a decrease in organism growth resulted, and with cases in which K2HPO4 was omitted the organisms did not develop detectable turbidity during the 7 hour experimental period. This reduction in organism growth due to decreased phosphate content, in conjunction with the fact that very high concentrations of bacteriophages were obtained in synthetic medium supplemented with dried skim milk and 0.1 per cent K2HPO4 (table 28), further indicated that the failure of bacteriophages to multiply, rather than being due to the presence of the phosphate ion, was due to the absence of some nutrient in the synthetic medium. This nutrient, though present in dried skim milk, was made unavailable in a medium containing dried skim milk by concentrations of K2HPO4 greater than 0.1 per cent.

Thus, with the K_2HPO_4 and glucose contents decreased to 0.1 per cent, other attempts were made (tables 31 and 32) to secure bacteriophage proliferation by addition of small quantities of $CaCl_2$. 2HOH and by increasing the salts already present in a

TABLE 31

Effect of salt supplements on the multiplication of S.

lactis (712) and bacteriophage (F56) in the basal medium supplemented with supplement XIVa

	K ₂ HPO ₄ conc.	Glucose conc.	No. of books phage p	acterio- articles	Turbidity of
(g./100 ml.)(R*\100 mT*\/	8.\ 100 mt.\	0 hr.	7 hr.	(7 hr.)
CaCl2 * 2HOH, O.2 g.	0.4 g.	0.5 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ²	69
CaCl ₂ ·2HOH, 5 mg.	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5 x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	84
Supplement	•		*		
CaCl2.SHOH,	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	4.5x10 ⁵	82
Supplement XIIa CaCl ₂ *2HOH, 5 mg.	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	83
Supplement XIIa CaCl ₂ ·2HOH, 5 mg. sodium ace- tate, 0.5 g.	0.01 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	71
Supplement XII ^a	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	76
Supplement XIIIa CaCl2.2HOH, 10 mg.	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	80

a See table 1

Fffect of salt supplements on the multiplication of S. cremoris (E8) and bacteriophage (F63) in the basal medium supplement XIVa

Salt supplement		Glucose conc.	phage pa	ecterio- rticles	Turbidity of
(g./100 ml.)	(g./100 mi.)(R*\TOO MT*)	0 hr.	7 hr.	control (7 hr.)
CaCl ₂ ·SHOH,	0.4 g.	0.5 g.	4.5x10 ²	9x10 ¹	80
CaCl2 · 2HOH, 5 mg.	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	39
Supplement XIIa CaCl ₂ SHOH, 5 mg.	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	25
Supplement XIIa CaCl ₂ ·2HOH, 5 mg.	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	44
Supplement XIIa CaCl2.2HOH, 5 mg. sodium acetate, 0.5 g.	0.01 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	8
Supplement XIIa	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	36
Supplement XIII ^a CaCl ₂ ·2HOH 10 mg.	0.05 g.	0.1 g.	4.5x10 ²	<1x10 ⁴	48

[&]amp; See table 1

medium which was also supplemented with the complex supplement XIV. In one medium containing 5 mg. calcium chloride per 100 ml. bacteriophage F56 increased slightly (table 31), but this result was not duplicated in a second trial. The K2HPO4 content was reduced to 0.05 and 0.01 per cent to no avail. There seemed to be considerable doubt that the essential nutrient had been added and the use of more complex nutrients again was employed.

While trypticase, a pancreatic digest of casein, caused a slight increase in bacteriophages F56 and F63 (table 33), dried skim milk again was the only supplement which produced any great effect upon the multiplication of bacteriophage. The addition of 1.5 per cent dried skim milk caused normal multiplication of F56 and F63. Thus, it seemed necessary to determine the constituent of milk which was necessary for bacteriophage proliferation. Some dried skim milk was ashed, and the ash was added to the medium at the rate of the ash of 2 g. dried skim milk per 100 ml. A precipitate was formed during autoclaving, and the bacteriophages did not multiply in the medium (table 34). However, when a medium containing the ash of 2 g. dried skim milk per 100 ml. was sterilized by filtration, the bacteriophages multiplied. If the K2HPO, content was increased from 0.1 to 0.4 per cent, the resulting medium was inactive for the multiplication of bacteriophages. A mineral mixture of the approximate composition of milk ash was made up, and a quantity of this mixture approximately equal

Effect of complex supplements on multiplication of bacteriophage on host in half-strength basel medium minus K2HPO4 and containing only 0.05 g./100 ml. glucose

Bacterio- phage	Supplement (/100 ml.)	No. of bacte	
		O br.	7 hr.
	Dried skim milk, 3 g.	4.5 x 10 ²	4.5 x 10 ⁸
	Dried skim milk, 1.5 g.	4.5×10^{2}	2.5 x 10 ⁸
	Dried skim milk, 0.75 g.	4.5×10^2	4.5×10^8
F56	Tomato juice, 40 ml.	4.5×10^2	$< 1 \times 10^4$
	Tomato juice, 20 ml.	4.5 x 10 ²	$< 1 \times 10^4$
	Trypticase, 4 g.	4.5 x 10 ²	4.0 x 10 ⁵
	Dried skim milk, 3 g.	4.5 x 10 ²	4.5 x 10 ⁸
	Dried skim milk, 1.5 g.	4.5 x 10 ²	2.5×10^8
F63	Dried skim milk, 0.75 g.	4.5×10^2	2.5 x 10 ⁷
	Tomato juice, 40 ml.	4.5 x 10 ²	$< 1 \times 10^4$
	Tomato juice, 20 ml.	4.5×10^{2}	$< 1 \times 10^4$
	Trypticase, 4 g.	4.5×10^{2}	4.0×10^5

TABLE 34

Effect of method of sterilization and KoHPO, content of the supplemented basal medium containing the ash of 2 g. dried skim milk/100 ml. upon bacteriophage multiplication on susceptible host cells

Bacter- iophage	Method of steri- lization (conc.	No. of bac- teriophage particles (6 hr.)	Turbidity of control (6 hr.)		off Con- trol	lated
	Autoclaved	0.1 g.	<1x10 ⁴	Precipi-	5.35	***	<u>me@ium</u> 5.95
F56	Filtered	0.1 g.	4.0x10 ⁷	52	5.95	5.80	6.60
	Filtered	0.4 g.	<1x10 ⁴	54	6.20	6.15	**
	Autoclaved	0.1 g.	<1x10 ⁴	Precipi- tated	5.30		5.95
F63	Filtered	0.1 g.	2.5x10 ⁸	55	5.90	6.00	6.60
	Filtered	0.4 g.	<1x10 ⁴	55	6.35	6.35	***

a Medium contained only 0.1 g. glucose/100 ml. and supplements XII and XIVb.

b See table 1

c Number of bacteriophage particles at 0 hr. was 4.5x102

to the ash of 2 g. dried skim milk was substituted for the milk ash. This mineral mixture also caused becteriophage proliferation (tables 35 and 36), and when the synthetic medium was not supplemented neither F56 nor \$63 multiplied.

Since the major mineral constituent of milk ash other than phosphorus and potassium is calcium, another attempt was made to cause the multiplication of the bacteriophages by adding CaCl₂. 2HOH. This time comparatively large quantities of CaCl₂. 2HOH were added, and the medium was sterilized by filtration. The addition of either 0.2 or 0.1 per cent CaCl₂. 2HOH resulted in rapid multiplication of bacteriophages (tables 35 and 36). Autoclaving the medium and the K₂HPO₄ separately and adding the two after cooling gave a medium which was as active for the production of bacteriophages as a medium sterilized by filtration. Neither MnCl₂. 4HOH nor MgSO₄. 7HOH duplicated the effect of CaCl₂. 2HOH in promoting bacteriophage multiplication (tables 35 and 36). A slight stimulation which was much less than that of calcium chloride for bacteriophages F56 and F63, resulted from the use of MgSO₄. 7HOH.

It seemed that calcium was the nutrient which, when available in the chemically defined medium, would make it sufficient for the proliferation of those bacteriophages which in the absence of available calcium did not multiply. A quantity of the basal synthetic medium containing only 0.1 per cent K2HPO4 and supplemented with sodium acetate, Tween 80 and 0.2 per cent CaCl2.2HOH was made up. The effect of this medium in promoting the growth

TABLE 35

Substitution of salts for milk ash for bacteriophage (F63) in basal medium containing 0.1 g./100 ml. KpHP04 and 0.1 g./100 ml. glucose, supplemented with supplements XII² and XIV² and sterilized by filtration

Salt substituted (g./100 ml.)	No. of bacteriophage particles	Turbidity of	
	0 hr. 6 hr.	control (6 hr.)	
None	$4.5 \times 10^2 < 1 \times 10^4$	24	
Mineral mixtureb	$4.5 \times 10^{2} \ 7.5 \times 10^{7}$	54	
Mineral mixtureb, c	$4.5 \times 10^2 \ 4.5 \times 10^8$	54	
CaCl ₂ ·2HOH, 0.2 g.	$4.5 \times 10^{2} \ 2.5 \times 10^{9}$	49	
CaCl2.2HOH, 0.1 g.	4.5 x 10 ² 2.5 x 10 ⁹	54	
CaCl2 · 2HOH, O.1 g.d	$4.5 \times 10^{2} \ 2.5 \times 10^{9}$	58	
CaCl ₂ ·2HOH, 20 mg.	$4.5 \times 10^2 \ 4.5 \times 10^7$	69	
Mg804.7HOH, 0.2 g.	$4.5 \times 10^2 \ 7.5 \times 10^4$	60	
MgS04.7HOH, 0.1 g.	$4.5 \times 10^{8} < 1 \times 10^{4}$	78	
MgSO ₄ ·7HOH, O.2 g. CaCl ₂ ·2HOH, 20 mg.	$4.5 \times 10^{2} 2.5 \times 10^{7}$	62	
Mncl2.4HOH, 0.1 g.	$4.5 \times 10^2 < 1 \times 10^4$	44	

a See table 1

b Contained CaCl₂·2HOH, 66 mg.; MgSO₄·7HOH, 25 mg.; FeSO₄·7HOH, 1.1 mg.; NaCl, 13 mg.; K₂HFO₄. 75 mg. and Na₂HFO₄. 2 mg.

Contained no K2HPO4 except that in mineral mixture.

d Kohpo 4 autoclaved separately and added to the autoclaved mixture.

TABLE 36

Substitution of salts for milk ash for becteriophage (F56) in basal medium containing 0.1 g./100 ml. K2HPO4 and 0.1 g./100 ml. glucose, supplemented with supplements XII^a and XIV^a and sterilized by filtration

Salt substituted (g./100 ml.)	No. of bact parti	Turbidity of	
	O hr.	6 4.	control (6 hr.)
None	4.5 x 10 ²	<1 x 10 ⁴	47
Mineral mixtureb	4.5×10^{2}	2.5 x 10 ⁷	54
Mineral mixture b, c	4.5×10^2	1.5 × 10 ⁶	66
CaCl2*2HOH, 0.2 g.	4.5×10^{2}	2.5 x 10 ⁷	60
CaCl ₂ ·SHOH, O.1 g.	4.5 × 10 ²	4.5×10^7	63
CaCl2.2HOH, O.1 g.d	4.5×10^{2}	4.5×10^8	80
CaCl ₂ ·2HOH, 20 mg.	4.5×10^2	2.5×10^6	61
MgS04.7HOH, 0.2 g.	4.5×10^2	7.5×10^5	84
MgS04.7HOH, 0.1 g.	4.5×10^{2}	2.5×10^5	95
MgS04.7HOH, 0.2 g. CaCl2.2HOH, 20 mg.	4.5 x 10 ²	2.5 x 10 ⁶	60
MnC12*4HOH, 0.1 g.	4.5×10^{2}	$<1 \times 10^4$	71

a See table 1

b Contained CaCl₂·2HOH, 66 mg.; MgSO₄·7HOH, 25 mg.; FeSO₄·7HOH, 1.1 g.; NaCl, 13 mg.; K₂HPO₄, 75 mg. and Na₂HPO₄, 2 mg.

c Contained no K2HPO4 except that in mineral mixture.

d K2HPO4 autoclaved separately and added to the autoclaved medium.

of six bacteriophages which did not multiply in the absence of available calcium is shown in table 37. In each case the multiplication of bacteriophage was as great as or greater than would be predicted from the development of turbidity. Thus, when calcium was available in the chemically defined medium, the close relationship between the multiplication of organism and bacteriophage was again evident.

one-tenth of 1 per cent CaCl2*2HOH seemed optimum in a synthetic medium containing 0.1 per cent K2HPO4. In cases in which the K2HPO4 content was increased or the medium was autoclaved in the presence of the phosphate, the calcium seemed to be removed from solution, possibly in the form of tri-calcium phosphate. When sterilization was accomplished by filtration, all ingredients were added prior to filtration. A very slight precipitate usually was formed when a medium was prepared using the proportions of CaCl2*2HOH and K2HPO4 indicated and adjusted to pH 6.7. The removal of this precipitate by filtration seemed not to harm the medium.

Two attempts were made to determine whether colcium was necessary for the adsorption of bacteriophage to cells or for the multiplication of bacteriophage after adsorption. Two quantities of basal medium were prepared, one of which contained 0.1 per cent CaCl₂·2HOH. The K₂HPO₄ content was 0.1 per cent in each case. The media were dispensed in quantities of 9 ml. and placed in a 32° C. water bath. Each tube of medium was inoculated with

TABLE 37

The effect of CaCl2 2HOH, 0.2 g./100 ml., in promoting multiplication of bacteriophages in synthetic medium containing sodium acetate, 2 mg./ml., and Tween 80, 2 mg./ml. and sterilized by filtration

	Bacterio-	No. of be	No. of bacteriophage particl		Turbi	Turbidity	
S. lactis strain	phage strain	0 hr.	7 hr.ª	18 hr.b	7 hr.	12 hr.	
PH8	F6 5a	4.5x10 ²	4.5x10 ⁶	2.5x10 ⁷	9	17	
3188/27	F74	2.5x10 ²	2.5x10 ⁷	2.5x10 ⁸	22	46	
IP5	F68	4.5x10 ²	2.5x10 ⁷	2.5x10 ⁸	7	18	
НЬ	F59	2.0x10 ²	2.5x10 ⁷	4.5x10 ⁷	6	19	
4 59	P52	2.5x10 ³	4.5x10 ⁵	2.5x10 ⁷	8	17	
122-1	F76	2.5x10 ²	4.5x10 ⁵	2.5x10 ⁸	5	15	

a Dilution 7 was highest dilution made at 7 hr.

b Dilution 9 was highest dilution made at 12 hr.

I ml. of washed cells containing about 10⁸ bacteria per ml.

Thirty minutes later 1 ml. of diluted bacteriophage filtrate, containing about 10⁵ bacteriophage particles per ml., was added per tube, and the bacteriophage concentrations were determined. At the indicated time intervals tubes were removed from the water bath, centrifuged 5 minutes at 4,000 r.p.m. to sediment the bacterial cells, and assayed for bacteriophage remaining in the supernatant. The results of these experiments are given in table 38.

The results in almost every instance were within the experimental error of the methods used, and the precision of estimation attained in enumerating the bacteriophage particles does not justify any definite conclusions. However, the decrease in bacteriophage remaining in the supernatant where no calcium was present was as great as or greater than in cases where calcium was present. This seemed to indicate that possibly calcium was not necessary for the adsorption of bacteriophages F56 or F63.

Cohen and Anderson (1946), upon studying the effect of the adsorption of T2 bacteriophage by E. coli in a Warburg respirometer, found that after 1 to 3 hours there was a gradual decrease in O2 consumption. They attributed the decrease in O2 consumption to the dying of infected cells. It has been noticed throughout this work that usually in cases in which there was no increase in bacteriophage particles during a 6 or 7 hour test

TABLE 38

Effect of CaCl2*2HOH upon the adsorption of bacteriophages F56 and F63

	Organ- ism strain)	(g./100	No. of bacteriophage particles in supernatant after time (min.) allowed for adsorption				
	Will the training and the second second	ml.)	0	10	50	30	
		0	7.5×10^4	4.5 x 10 ⁴	***	wigh week	
		0.1	4.5×10^4	2.5×10^4	***	***	
P5 6	712	0	4.5×10^4	9.5×10^3	4.5 x 10	3.0×10^3	
		0.1	9.5 x 104	2.5 x 10 ⁴	4.5 x 10	4 2.5 x 10 ⁴	
distance and the strategies and manifest and strategies and strate		0	4.5 x 10 ⁴	4.5 x 10 ⁴	Magandidina dha ceadaga girinda a bhiri dhi dhi dhi dhi dhi dhi dhi dhi dhi dh		
		0.1	2.5 x 10 ⁴	7.5×10^4	: .400-400	with winds	
F63	E8	O	2.5 x 10 ⁵	4.5×10^4	2.5 x 10	4 2.5 x 10 ⁴	
		0.1	1.5 x 10 ⁴	2.5 x 10 ⁴	4.5 x 10	4 4.5 x 10 ⁴	

period there was a decrease. In table 8 this is evident for several bacteriophages. If bacteriophages are adsorbed to living cells. bacteriophage multiplication would commence when such infected cells are transferred to litmus milk, and the bacteriophages would be demonstrated. If bacteriophages are not adsorbed to cells in the test medium, adsorption would take place in the litmus milk. However, if bacteriophages are adsorbed to dead cells, multiplication of the adsorbed bacteriophages would not take place in litmus milk, and such becteriophages would not be demonstrated. Since it is unlikely that bacteriophages would die off during a 6 or 7 hour test period, the observed decreases in numbers of demonstrable bacteriophages in this work may be considered to have resulted from the inactivity of infected cells. This could be considered additional evidence that several of the bacteriophages used in this work were adsorbed to cells in the absence of calcium, and that the calcium was necessary for some other function in bacteriophage proliferation.

Inhibition of Lysis by Adding K2HPO4 to Litmus Milk

Since it was found that concentrations of K_2HPO_4 of 0.5 per cent or greater inhibited bacteriophage multiplication in solutions of 0.5 per cent dried skim milk, possibly by making unavailable the calcium ion, it was desirable to know if this

phenomenon would be exhibited as well in liquid skim milk. For this purpose two different experiments were run. In the first experiment the K2HPO4 in concentrations indicated was added to and autoclaved with the liquid skim milk, while in the second trial a neutralized solution of K2HPO4 was autoclaved separately and added to the sterile skim milk in sufficient amounts to give the desired concentrations.

In all cases the litmus milk was dispensed aseptically in quantities of 10 ml. into test tubes, plugged with cotton and incubated at 32° C. for 16 to 18 hours, at which time visual observations were recorded. For each tube one drop of fresh litmus milk culture was used as organism inoculum and one drop of filtrate diluted 1:100 in sterile distilled water was used as bacteriophage inoculum. Although this procedure did not standardize the filtrates used as inocula for the different combinations, the quantity of inoculum used for each tube of a combination was standard.

The addition of 0.5 per cent K2HPO4 to skim milk prior to autoclaving (table 39) enabled most of the organisms tested to bring about coagulation in the presence of their respective bacteriophages, while 0.2 per cent K2HPO4 did not prevent lysis in any case. With combinations W2-F24, FH8-F65, and HP-F59 there was evidence of bacteriophage activity, in that, while coagulation did take place, the curd was very soft. Coagulation did not take place with the control cultures of combinations

TABLE 39
Inhibition of lysis by K2HPO4 added to litmus milk prior to autoclaving

	Bacter-	Concentration of K2HPO4				
S. lactis	iophage strain	0.5% KgH	0.8% K2HPO4ª			
		No bacteriophage	Containing bacteriophage	No bacteriophage		
712	F56	Coagulated	Coagulated	Coagulated		
#2	F24	Coagulated	Coagulated, very soft curd	Coagulated		
E8	F63	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced		
FILE	F65	Coagulated	Coagulated, very soft curd	Coagulated		
318B/27	F74	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced		
M1	P25	Coagulated	Coagulated	Coagulated		
IP5	P6 8	Coagulated	Coagulate?	Coagulated		
H.P.	F59	Coagulated	Coagulated very soft curd	Coagulated		
459	F52	Coagulated	Goagulated	Coagulated		
W4	P21	Coagulated	Coagulated	Coagulated		
122-1	F76	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced		

a Litmus milk tubes containing 0.2 per cent KeHPO4 and bacteriophage were lysed in all cases.

b Lysed indicates that there was little or not visible change in the litmus milk.

E8-F63, 318B/27-F74, and 122-1-F76 during the experimental period, which possibly can be explained upon the basis that greater quantities of lactic acid are required to coagulate skim milk in the presence of KoHPO4. Upon the addition of KoHPO4 to skim milk after autoclaving (table 40), there was a marked difference in the activity of different strains of bacteriophage. The addition of 1 per cent KoHPO4 was necessary to prevent bacteriophage action, and even this quantity prevented the action of only two bacteriophages, F56 and F25. Whether these differences in the effect of K2HPO4 in preventing lysis by different strains of bacteriophage were due to differences in the amounts of calcium required by these bacteriophages or to some other reason is not clear. As was the case in a synthetic medium, the ability of K2HPO, to prevent lysis, possibly by making calcium unavailable for use by the bacteriophage, seemed much more effective when the KoHPO4 was added prior to autoclaving.

TABLE 40
Inhibition of lysis by K2HPO4 added to litmus milk after autoclaving

	Bacter	Concentration of K2HPO4					
S. lactis strain	iophage strain	1.0% K2H	P04	0.5% KgHP04			
		No bacterio- phage	Containing bacterio- phage	No bscterio- phage	Containing beterio- phage		
712	F56	Coagulate?	Coagulated	Coagulated	Lyse ā		
w2	F24	Coagulated	Lysed	Coaguled	Lysed		
F8	P63	Reduced	Redu ced	Reduced	Reduced		
FH8	F65	Congulated	Lysed	Coagulated	Lysed		
3188/27	F74	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced	Lysed		
M1	F25	Coagulated	Coagulated	Coagulated	Lysed		
IP5	F6 8	Coagulated	Lysed	Coagulated	Lysed		
H.P.	F59	Coagulated	Lysed	Coagulated	Lysed		
459	P52	Coagulated	Lysed	Coagulated	Lysed		
W4	F21	Coagulated	Coagulated, very soft curd	Coagulated	Coagulated, very soft curd		
122-1	F76	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced		
H-1,2	PF2	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced	Reduced		
ML1	F69	Coagulated	Acid, coagu- lated in bottom of tube	Congulated	Lysed		
565	F54	Coagulated	Lysed	Coagulated	Lysed		

a Indicates that there was little or no visible change in the litmus milk.

Note:

In a control experiment using litmus milk with no K2HPO4 added, all tubes containing no bacteriophage were coagulated and all tubes containing bacteriophage were lysed.

DISCUSSION

The requirement of strains of the lactic group of streptococci for sodium acetate and a source of oleic acid apparently is much more general among the strains of bacteria in the Streptococcus lactis group than has been reported for other lactic acid bacteria. No strain of S. cremoris tested was able to develop turbidity in the completely synthetic medium in the absence of both sodium acetate and Tween 80 unless a complex nutrient was included in the medium. Tween 80 alone was found to permit growth of only one of 22 cultures tested, and, although sodium acetate gave better results than Tween 80 alone, both of these nutrients seemed necessary for the rapid development of turbidity within 24 hours by most cultures. Although Tween 80 could not be substituted for sodium acetate, the stimulation provided by its addition to the medium seems to agree with the report (Guirard, Snell, and Williams, 1946) of a nutritional relationship between acetate and the synthesis of cell lipoidal materials in bacteria. Sodium acetate seems either to perform an additional function in the metabolism of these organisms or it is transformed by the organism into some substance which is essential for growth. The substitution of very small quantities of the liver extract, reticulogen, for sodium acetate and Tween 80 may indicate the addition of

a growth factor or factors which may serve in the formation of acetate or in a metabolic scheme in which some substance formed from acetate also is active. Baumann and Sauberlich (1948), upon finding that small quantities of reticulogen promoted growth of Leuconostoc citrovorum 8081 in a synthetic medium, attributed its growth promoting quality to vitamin B₁₂ which was not available at the time of their work. Vitamin B₁₂ was used in an effort to promote the growth of 12 strains of S. cremoris in this work and found ineffective in all cases.

The species "cremoris" is often considered to be a select group containing the more fastidious strains of the species "lactis". That the 29 most recently isolated organisms used in this study classified as S. lactis, while those cultures which have been carried on litmus milk for many years all classified as S. cremoris, is presumptive evidence that pure cultures of S. lactis organisms may become more fastidious upon being carried for a long period of time in heated milk and finally are classified as S. cremoris. Only 9 of 31 strains of S. lactis tested required sodium acetate and Tween 80, while all 22 strains of S. cremoris required this supplement. This indicates the more fastidious nature of S. cremoris organisms in this one recuirement.

The growth of strains of the lactic group of streptococci on chemically defined media seems to present a nutritional gradation reaching from those organisms such as strains W2, 565 and 712 which developed turbidity very rapidly on the unsupplemented medium of Niven (1944) to strain H 1-2 which developed

turbidity very slowly in a medium supplemented with a long list of nutrients. All cultures that required sodium acetate and Tween 80 for growth developed turbidity rather slowly during the first 7 hours. When the defined medium was supplemented with such complex mixtures as tomato juice, casein hydrolysate, dried skim milk or yeast extract for <u>S. cremoris</u> strain E8, there was considerable stimulation of growth during the first seven hours, which seemed to indicate these complex mixtures contain other nutrients necessary for the rapid initiation of growth.

With two bacteriophage-organism combinations, 565-F54 and W2-F24, the bacteriophages were found to multiply in the presence of host cells growing in the chemically defined basal medium; however, no bacteriophage multiplication in the basal medium supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80 was evident with ten other combinations. While mass lysis occurred in milk, this was not always the case in the basal medium with bacteriophages F54 or F24. Although a clear and foamy culture at 6 or 7 hours always was indicative of high numbers of bacteriophage, in many cases in which these characteristics were not present, the numbers of bacteriophage were the same as those of the clear and foamy cultures. Clearing of a medium caused by the action of bacteriophage, appears to be the result of the associated action of several factors which may or may not allow the bacteriophages to reach a sufficient concentration to cause mass lysis prior to

the time when the bacterial cells become temporarily resistant to bacteriophage action. The rate of bacteriophage multiplication appears to be determined to a great extent by the rate of cell multiplication. Factors which allow the organism opportunity to become temporarily resistant possibly include slight physical and physico-chemical changes and changes in the physiological state of host and bacteriophage which favor bacterial multiplication to a greater extent than bacteriophage multiplication. The temporary resistant state of bacterial cells may result from changes in the pH of the medium and other changes due to bacterial growth such as the production of metabolic by-product(s) inhibitory to bacteriophage action.

The studies of omission of nutrients from the synthetic basal medium with combinations 565-F54 and W2-F24 seemed to emphasize the close relationship between the proliferation of bacteriophages and susceptible host cells. All efforts to obtain bacterial growth without bacteriophage proliferation failed. When a method for detecting smaller differences in concentrations of bacteriophages active against strains of the 1 ctic group of streptococci is available, a similar study may reveal slight variations from this close relationship. However, such variations would seem to be of little value to the dairy industry.

when celcium was not included in the medium, the usual relationship between bacteriophage multiplication and organism multiplication seemed to be completely altered for all bacteriophage-organism combinations used except 565-F54 and W2-F24.

while the addition of available calcium did not detectably affect the growth of these organisms, it seemed to play a very important role in the prdiferation of the homologous b cteriophages. In cases in which calcium was not available in the synthetic medium, the bacteriophages did not multiply; in the presence of calcium, bacteriophage multiplication occurred and the close relationship between multiplication of organism and bacteriophage proliferation again was apparent.

That calcium is necessary for the multiplication of many bacteriophages in a chemically defined medium may be of great significance to the deiry industry. The prevention of lysis of bacteria growing in milk requires the addition of rather large quantities of K_2HPO_4 which may result in heat coagulation; therefore, this practice does not seem feasible. However, it would seem that by using chemically defined nutrients containing no calcium or by using complex nutrients low in calcium content and supplemented with K_2HPO_4 , a medium may be designed for the carrying of many strains of the lactic group of streptococci with little or no danger of bacteriophage action. Where the purpose of carrying such cultures is that they might eventually be used in milk or milk products, lactose would be used as a source of carbohydrate to prevent a loss of ability to coagulate milk rapidly.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

and Tween 80 (a source of oleic acid) to the medium of Niven (1944) permitted the growth of all strains of the lactic group of streptococci which did not grow on the unsupplemented medium. The addition of sodium acetate and Tween 80 was necessary for the growth of 22 strains of S. cremoris and 9 of 31 strains of S. lactis. Reticulogen, a commercial liver extract, could be substituted in somewhat smaller quantities for sodium acetate and Tween 80 and also permitted rapid growth of one strain of S. cremoris which did not show detectable growth until after 24 hours in the medium supplemented with sodium acetate and Tween 80.

Using ammonia formation from arginine and growth at 40° C. as the basis for separation, all strains of the lactic group which had been in the laboratory for considerable time were found to be S. cremoris, while all recently isolated strains were found to be S. lactis.

with two S. lactis-bacteriophage combinations, multiplication of bacteriophages and organisms were affected similarly by the omission of individual components from the unsupplemented synthetic medium of Niven (1944). Bacteriophage multiplication seems to be closely associated with organism multiplication for these two combinations.

When calcium was available in the medium, eight becteriophage strains tested were found to multiply on their susceptible host cells in a completely synthetic medium which did not permit these bacteriophage strains to proliferate without the addition of CaCl₂*2HOH. When calcium was available in the medium and these bacteriophages multiplied, the close relationship between bacteriophage multiplication and organism multiplication seemed evident for these strains also. Calcium was rendered unavailable in a medium containing 0.1 per cent CaCl₂*2HOH by either autoclaving the entire medium or by increasing the K₂HPO_A content shove 0.1 per cent.

A close relationship seems to exist between the nutrition or organisms of the S. lactis group and multiplication of their homologous bacteriophages. However, calcium, while of no detectable importance to organism growth, seems to be required for the multiplication of many bacteriophages.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The writer wishes to express his sincere appreciation to Dr. F. E. Nelson for directing this investigation and for guidance in the preparation of this manuscript.

To Dr. C. E. Parmelee, gratitude is expressed for his valuable suggestions in various phases of this study.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- American Public Health Association. Standard methods for the 1948 examination of dairy products. 9th ed. Am. Pub. Health Assn., New York, N. Y.
- Anderson, T. F. The role of tryptophan in the adsorption of two bacterial viruses on their host, Escherichia coli. J. Cellular Comp. Physiol., 25:17-26.
- Anderson, T. F. Morphological and chemical relations in viruses 1946 and bacteriophages. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quant. Biol., 11:1-13.
 - Anderson, T. F. The influence of temperature and nutrients on bacteriophage formation by bacteriophages active on Escherichia coli. J. Bact., 55:659-665.
 - Andrews, C. H. and Elford, W. J. The "killing" of bacteria by 1932 bacteriophage. Brit. J. Exp. Path., 13:13-21.
 - Baumann, C. A. and Sauberlich, H. E. A factor required for the growth of Leuconostoc citrovorum. J. Biol. Chem., 176:165-173.
- Jerdet, J. and Renaux, E. L'autolyse microbienne transmissible 1928 ou le bacteriophage. Ann. Inst. Past., 42:1283-1385.
- Buchanan, R. E. and Fulmer, E. I. Physiology and biochemistry 1928 of bacteria. Vol. I, p. 11. Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, Md.
 - Burnett, F. M. A method for the study of bacteriophage multi-1929 plication in broth. Brit. J. Exp. Path., 10:105-115.
 - Clifton, C. E. and Morrow, G. The kinetics of lysis of Escher-1936 ichia coli. J. Bact., 31:441-451.
 - Cohen, S. S. Growth requirements of bacterial viruses. Bact. 1949 Rev., 13:1-24.
 - Cohen, S. S. and Anderson, T. F. Chemical studies on host-1946 virus interactions. I. The effect of b cteriophage adsorption on the multiplication of its host, Escherichia coli B. J. Exp. Med., 84:511-523.

- Cohen, S. S. and Fowler, C. B. Some additional methods of determining nutritional requirements for virus multiplication. J. Exp. Med., 87:275-282.
- Delbrück, M. Bacterial viruses or bacteriophages. Biol. Rev. 1946 Camb. Phil. Soc., 21:30-39.
- Delbrück, M. Biochemical mutants of bacterial viruses. J. 1948 Bact., 56:1-16.
 - Dunn, M. S., Shankman, S., Camien, M. N. and Block, H. The 1946 amino acid requirements of twenty-three lactic acid bacteria. J. Biol. Chem., 168:1-22.
 - Ellis, E. L. and Spizizen, J. Glycine--an essential factor for 1940 the growth of bacteriophage. Sci., 92:91.
 - Fong, J. and Krueger, A. P. The effect of sodium chloride on 1949 bacteriophage formation by staphylococci at elevated temperatures. J. Gen. Physiol., 32:279-289.
 - Fowler, C. B. and Cohen, S. S. Chemical studies in host-virus interactions. IV. A method of detecting nutritional requirements for bacterial virus multiplication. J. Exp. Med., 87:259-274.
- √ Gest, H. The effects of inorganic salts on the multiplication
 1943 of bacterial viruses. J. Infect. Dis., 73:158-166.
 - Guirard, B. M., Snell, E. E. and Williams, R. J. The nutri-1946 tional role of acetate for lactic acid bacteria. I. The response to substances related to acetate. Arch. Biochem., 9:361-379.
 - Harriman, L. A. Causes of slow acid production in butter 1934 cultures. Unpublished Ph. D. Thesis. Ames, Iowa. Iowa State College Library.
 - Hunter, G. J. E. Bacteriophages for <u>Streptococcus cremoris</u>.

 1943 Bacteriophage development at various temperatures.

 J. Dairy Res., 13:136-145.
 - Koser, S. A. Growth factors for microorganisms. Ann. Rev. 1948 Microbiol., 2:121-139.
 - Krueger, A. P. and Northrup, J. H. The kinetics of the 1930 bacterium-bacteriophage reaction. J. Gen. Physiol., 14:223-254.

- /Krueger, A. P. and Strietmann, W. L. Effect of sodium sulfate 1938 on the bacteriophage-bacterium reaction. J. Gen. Physiol., 22:131-138.
- Krueger, A. P. and West, N. S. The accelerating effect of 1935 manganous ions on bacteriophage action. J. Gen. Physiol., 19:75-86.
- Lampen, J. O. and Jones, M. J. The growth-promoting and anti1947 sulfonamide activity of p-aminobenzoic acid,
 pteroylglutamic acid, and related compounds for
 Lactobacillus arabinosus and Streptobacterium
 plantarum. J. Biol. Chem., 170:133-146.
- Mitchell, H. K., Snell, E. E. and Williams, R. T. The concen-1941 tration of "folic acid". J. Am. Chem. Soc., 63:2284.
- Nelson, F. E. A study of a factor inhibiting the growth of 1936 Streptococcus lactis. Unpublished Ph. D. thesis. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State College Library
- Nichols, A. A. and Hoyle, M. The identity of streptococci 1948 from starter and streptococci suitable for use as starter, isolated from sour cream. J. Dairy Res., 15:409-416.
- √ Niven, C. F., Jr. Nutrition of Streptococcus lactis. J. Bact., 1944 47:343-350.
 - Niven, C. F., Jr. and Sherman, J. M. Nutrition of the enter-1944 ococci. J. Bact., 47:333-342.
 - Price, W. H. Bacteriophage formation without becterial growth.

 1947

 II. The effect of niacin and yeast extract on
 bacteriophage formation and bacterial growth in the
 presence of penicillin. J. Gen. Physiol., 31:
 127-139.
 - Price, W. H. Bacterial viruses (bacteriophages). Sci. Mo. 1948(a) 67:124-127.
 - Price, W. H. Bacteriophage formation in Staphylococcus muscae 1948(b) cultures. I. A factor necessary for bacteriophage formation. J. Gen. Physiol., 31:233-238.
 - Price, W. H. Bacteriophage formation in Staphylococcus muscae 1949 cultures IV. The effect of the yeast fraction on virus synthesis. J. Gen. Physiol., 32:301-311.

- Schribner, E. J. and Krueger, A. P. The effect of NaCl on the 1937 bacteriophage-bacterium reaction. J. Gen. Physiol., 21:1-16.
- Shankmann, S., Camien, M. N., Block, H., Merrifield, R. B. and 1946 Dunn, M. S. Vitamin requirements of twenty-three lactic acid bacteria. J. Biol. Chem., 168:23-31.
- Smith, W. H. Calcium-deficient media; Their effect on bacterio-1948 phage action. Nature, 161:397.
 - Snell, E. E. Growth factors for microorganisms. Ann. Rev. 1946 Biochem., 15:375-396.
 - Snell, E. E. Nutritional requirements of the lactic acid 1948 bacteria. Wall. Lab. Comm., 11:81-104.
 - Snell, E. E. and Mitchell, H. K. Purine and pyrimidine bases 1941 as growth substances for lactic acid bacteria. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci., 27:1-7.
 - Spizizen, J. Biochemical studies on the phenomenon of virus 1943 reproduction. I. Amino acids and the multiplication of bacteriophage. J. Infect. Dis., 73:212-221.
- Stassano, H. and de Beaufort, A. D. Action du citrate de soude 1925 sur le principe lytique transmissible. C. R. Soc. Biol., 93:1380-1382.
- Turner, G. E. Dynamics of the <u>Streptococcus lactis</u>-bacterio-1948 phage relationship. <u>Unpublished Ph. D.</u> thesis. Ames, Icwa, Icwa State College Library.
 - Twort, F. W. An investigation on the nature of ultramicroscopic 1915 viruses. Lancet, 2:1241-1243.
- / Wahl, R. Influence de la composition du milieu sur la bacterio-1946 phagie. Ann. Inst. Past., 72:73-80.
 - Whitehill, A. R., Oleson, J. J. and SubbaRow, Y. A lactobacillus 1947 of cecal origin requiring cleic acid. Arch. Biochem., 15:31-37.

- Williams, V. R. and Fieger, E. A. Further studies on lipide stimulation of Lactobacillus casei. J. Biol. Chem., 177:739-744.
- Williams, W. W., Broduist, H. P. and Snell, E. E. Oleic acid 1947 and related compounds as growth factors for lactic acid bacteria. J. Biol. Chem., 170+619-630.
- Woods, D. D. Bacterial metabolism. Ann. Rev. Microbiol., 1947 1:115-135.